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Overview

It is my pleasure to present this year's Financial Report and to
celebrate a year marked by significant progress and achievements.
First, | extend my gratitude to our dedicated staff, students, alumni,
partners and supporters whose contributions are integral to our
continued success.

Despite the challenges posed by unstable financial markets, the
University concluded the fiscal year ending 31st August 2024 in an
excellent financial position. This strength will allow us to further our
strategic priorities in the upcoming years. Consolidated net assets
at the close of the year totaled HK$5,904.7 million, an increase of
HK$797.1 million or 15.6% from the prior year. Factors contributing to
this robust performance included ongoing growth in tuition income
from both Undergraduate and Taught Postgraduate programmes,
alongside strong investment return due to prudent financial
management. A consolidated net surplus of HK$797.1 million sets a
solid groundwork for future mission-driven investments in 2024/25
and beyond.
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Highlights of the Year

Shenzhen Research Institute

In November 2023, the University signed an agreement with the
Science, Technology and Innovation Commission of Shenzhen
Municipality to join Shenzhen Virtual University Park, becoming
Hong Kong’s first self-financing tertiary institution to be admitted to
the Park. The University is setting up the “Hong Kong Metropolitan
University Shenzhen Research Institute” in the Park, which will
foster collaboration between the two cities and commercialisation of
research outcomes.

2024-2028 Strategic Plan

In January 2024, the University officially launched its Strategic Plan
2024-2028 after having consulted extensively with students, staff,
alumni and major stakeholders. Titled “Extending the Horizon”, the plan
prioritises education and research with a focus on the “human factor”. It
encompasses 6 strategic themes and 54 commitments, demonstrating
a broad vision and ambitious aspirations, which will lead the University
to explore new horizons and venture into uncharted territory.

In April 2024, the University unveiled its Financial Strategy to provide
an integrated approach to managing its financial position in support of
its strategic objectives.

New Campus

In January 2024, the University obtained the Town Planning Board’s
approval of its application for the use and development of a slope at
the junction of Sheung Shing Street and Fat Kwong Street to build
an academic complex. The new campus, positioned as “A Hub for
Community Health and Wellness”, will provide a range of educational
programmes and activities aimed at addressing the needs of the
ageing population and promoting overall community health.

The 19-storey building will occupy an area of about 3,400 square
meters, providing the University with an additional gross floor area
of approximately 30,660 square meters, equivalent to about 42% of
the existing campus space. Two footbridges will be constructed to
connect to Fat Kwong Street and Sheung Shing Street, providing safe
and convenient access for teachers, students and the public.

In February 2024, the University submitted an application to the
Government for a grant for the site to commence the construction of
the new campus. While awaiting the approval from the Government,
the University has engaged the Lead Architect Consultant and the
Quantity Surveyor to commence the schematic design. The new
campus is scheduled to open in the 2028/29 academic year.

5 S FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024 | 3
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Highlights of the Year (continued)

University of Applied Sciences (UAS)

In March 2024, the University became the first UAS in Hong
Kong. The University has flexibly offered high-quality professional
programmes, including applied degree programmes, that emphasise
both theory and practice in response to the market trends and
industry needs. These programmes provide students with quality
professional education and help them to plan and develop their
careers. The University has also actively collaborated with industry
partners to provide diversified learning and pre-employment training
opportunities.

Student Hostel

In June 2024, the University acquired a brand-new hotel in Hung Hom
for student accommodation. The hotel, named MU88, will support
the University’s development and enrich student’s campus life, in
response to the continued growth in student population.

Located at 84-102 Wuhu Street, Hung Hom, the hotel consists
of two 16-storey towers with a gross floor area of approximately
66,400 square feet, offering 255 rooms with en-suite bathrooms to
accommodate about 480 persons. The University will suitably modify
and enhance the facilities to ensure that it comfortably accommodates
students’ daily living and study needs.
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Income and Expenditure

Consolidated income for the year has exceeded HK$2 billion for the
first time in the University’s history, increasing by HK$412.7 million
or 24.2% to HK$2,118.0 million (2022/23: HK$1,705.3 million). Tuition
income, our largest revenue source, grew by HK$427.5 million or
26.3% to HK$2,053.7 million (2022/23: HK$1,626.2 million), driven
by higher student enrolment and tuition fees. This is in line with
the University’s overall strategy of maintaining student numbers
whilst driving continued institutional quality through higher entry
requirements.

Total consolidated operating expenses amounted to HK$1,575.3
million, reflecting an increase of HK$232.8 million or 17.3% (2022/23:
HK$1,342.5 million), mainly due to higher salary costs to attract and
retain talents, and investments in infrastructure and student services
to support the growth and development of the University.

Total staffing costs, which accounted for 63.7% of the total operating
expenses, increased by HK$154.5 million or 18.2% to HK$1,003.4
million (2022/23: HK$ 848.9 million) as a result of increase in
headcount of academic and administrative staff, and salary
adjustments in line with prevailing market trends.

Non-staffing expenses also increased by HK$78.3 million or 15.9%
to HK$571.9 million (2022/23: HK$493.6 million) as the University
has spent additional resources on a number of new initiatives to
enhance campus infrastructure and to strengthen student and general
educational services. Premise-related expenses were HK$228.1
million (2022/23: HK$206.4 million), which accounted for 14.5% of
the total operating expenses, largely reflecting higher depreciation
as capital programmes advanced. Direct student costs and student
activity expenses were HK$150.0 million (2022/23: HK$125.9 million),
representing 9.5% the total operating expenses.

5 S FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024 | 5
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Investment

As of 31st August 2024, 47% (2022/23: 39%) of the University’s
investments were diversified portfolios of actively managed funds,
and 53% (2022/23: 61%) were self-managed cash invested in the
deposit pool according to guidelines on diversification, exposure
and credit rating as agreed by the Finance Committee. The portfolio
investment is designed to optimise long-term returns while mitigating
risk through prudent financial management. We will continue to retain
significant cash and investment balances in preparation for future
strategic investments.

Throughout the year, the University made ongoing efforts to upgrade its
investment firm roster to enhance performance, fostered relationships
with top-performing partners, and took tactical measures to reduce
exposure to Americas market. These actions positively impacted our
investment results, achieving gain beyond forecasts. Consolidated
interest and investment income totaled HK$431.6 million (2022/23:
HK$192.3 million), benefiting from resilient U.S. economic growth, a
gradual reduction in the rate of global inflation, central banks halting
rate hikes, and the continued excitement around advancements in
artificial intelligence. As of 31st August 2024, the total consolidated
cash and investment was valued at HK$5,614.3 million (2022/23:
HK$5,254.1 million).
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Donations and Government Grants

The remarkable generosity of the University’s alumni and friends —
including individuals, corporations, and foundations — provides
essential funding for student financial aid, investments in research,
and every aspect of the University’s operations. In aggregate, a total
of HK$145.5 million in donations and grants was recorded for the year
(2022/23: HK$124.9 million), with HK$40.2 million reflected as current
year grants and donations in support of operations, and HK$105.3
million recorded as deferred income for funding the University’s long-
term investment in physical infrastructure and providing resources
for core activities for future generations. We are deeply grateful to all
donors for their contributions, which empower the University’s mission
and pursuit of excellence. The University will continue to strengthen its
fundraising capabilities in order to secure a stable source of income
for its long-term development.

Results of the Year

The University maintained its upward momentum, closing the
year with a consolidated operating surplus of HK$365.5 million
(2022/23: HK$321.1 million) and a net interest and investment
income of HK$431.6 million (2022/23: HK$192.3 million). This led to
an overall surplus of HK$797.1 million (2022/23: HK$513.4 million),
yielding one of the best results in its history. Strong operating and
investment performance drove a significant net asset increase
of HK$797.1 million or 15.6%, ending the year at a record of
HK$5,904.7 million (2022/23: HK$5,107.6 million). Consolidated
net operating cash flow was a robust HK$900.2 million (2022/23:
HK$649.3 million), positioning us well to meet the investment
commitments and new investment opportunities.

These results would not have been possible without the expertise,
commitment, hard work and passion of our staff. | would like to take
this opportunity to thank them for their invaluable contribution to the
University.

5 S FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024 | 7
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Way Forward

Prudent financial management and flexible resource allocation
over the past several years made it possible to advance our pursuit
of academic excellence, expand our commitment to opportunity
and access, and initiate new capital expenditure programs for the
development of the University.

While we celebrate our financial achievements in 2023/24, we also
recognise external challenges, including economic growth slowdowns,
and political uncertainty driven by US Presidential election, war and
geopolitical tensions etc., will create volatility in financial markets,
which will impact our future investment returns. Nevertheless, with
our sound strategy, leadership and governance, we are confident in
our ability to achieve our goals and remain committed to our mission.
We look forward to a successful 2024/25.

Arnold CHENG Ka-kui
Treasurer of Hong Kong Metropolitan University
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To the Council of Hong Kong Metropolitan University

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (the “University”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 14 to 92, comprise:

* the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st August 2024;

* the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

* the consolidated statement of changes in fund balances for the
year then ended;

¢ the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
August 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Treasurer’s
Report and Performance Indicators, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of The Council and The Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Council is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and Hong Kong Metropolitan
University Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Council
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Council is
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 15 of Hong Kong
Metropolitan University Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an auditin accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Council.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 5th December, 2024

[ ]
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GEREERRAR
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RZZEZWMENA=+—H  AS AT 31ST AUGUST 2024

METER Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
AZE_NE B =
NB=+—8H NB=+—H
MizE At31st August2024 At 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
KREME Investment properties 6 903,650 126,693
L ER - E Y Property, plant and equipment 7 1,961,102 1,928,896
mILEE Intangible assets 8 - -
EREEE Right-of-use assets 21 112,859 103,508
FEURERE Bk Student loan receivables 11 51,211 64,883
FETRIE Prepayment 367 -
3,029,189 2,223,980
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
REBMEE Stock of course materials 2,510 2,726
FEUWRER =N - ELiFEURBR  Accounts receivable, other receivables,

M FENRIEREE prepayments and deposits 12 129,911 152,685
FEURERE B Student loan receivables 11 30,088 11,311
BABERmRREAT

BES(CWELESRY  Designated financial assets at fair

BE value through profit or loss 14 2,657,886 2,042,882
TESREE Derivative financial instruments 14 - 1,741
B IH AR $REIEE  Financial investments at amortised cost 13 - 21,445
AU EIFIE Income tax recoverable 23 156
FEIEAHEBIB=M@AZ  Bank deposits with original maturities

RITIEM over three months 15 973,726 2,017,776
RERINEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 15 1,984,200 1,170,228

5,778,344 5,420,950
bk A= CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEWEfEWE Fee income receipt in advance 16 1,021,353 793,646
FEfTERFN -FEStERR  Accounts payable, accrued expenses

B and provisions 17 370,570 271,260
IR 3 Deferred income 18 250,018 232,699
B EMERE RS

B Current portion of gratuities provision 19 51,476 18,330
BRAREERRE Current portion of government loans,

i) secured 20 31,368 -
HESEREED Current portion of lease liabilities 21 31,816 23,481
TESREaE Derivative financial instruments 14 1,489 -

1,758,090 1,339,416

REEERHE NET CURRENT ASSETS 4,020,254 4,081,534
HEER TOTAL ASSETS LESS

piid 1) =Ri CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,049,443 6,305,514

[ ]
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GEREERMAR
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

RIZEZMENB=+—H AS AT 31ST AUGUST 2024
M#ETEE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

g 111 3 = t———
NB=+—H NB=+—H
MizE At31st August2024 At 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $°000

ERBHEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
B EMERE Gratuities provision 19 37,743 32,449
HEEIRBEER Government loans, secured 20 443,184 464,005
HEaE Lease liabilities 21 85,163 82,499
EEERESE Deferred capital fund 22 568,556 608,977
FIERIEEE Deferred tax liability 23 10,083 9,961
1,144,729 1,197,891
FEERTE TOTAL NET ASSETS 5,904,714 5,107,623

HE® REPRESENTED BY

HEBHEES FUNDS AND RESERVES 5 5,904,714 5,107,623

REGNR_Z_NFE+_AEAZELRGESHBERE
Approved by the Council on 5th December 2024

BMREGTE B R BT HEREE
Mr Arnold CHENG Ka-kui Professor Paul LAM Kwan-sing Mr Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

Bl & RE 7548 8L
Treasurer President Director of Finance
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE_T-MENA=+—HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2024
LX?EE%*% Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
l\ﬁ_'l' E NB=+—H
ILEFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
B 5 31st August 2024 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $'000
EIER OPERATING ACTIVITIES
SEWE OPERATING INCOME
BE Tuition fee income 2,053,713 1,626,168
B EW S Consultancy fee income 1,989 15,741
I Miscellaneous income 62,298 63,386
RSB S Total operating income 2,118,000 1,705,295
SERX OPERATING EXPENDITURE
B> Academic expenditure
SRIZEM Course materials (16,290) (21,969)
LRI R % Tutors’ costs (41,644) (41,979)
BESLEMK Direct student costs (84,801) (68,377)
BB A Staff costs (616,573) (503,009)
— iR General expenses 25 (28,347) (18,195)
(787,655) (653,529)
TERAX Administrative expenditure
U= Y N Staff costs (333,662) (295,352)
—iRRsZ General expenses 25 (325,088) (285,433)
EER Depreciation charge (128,895) (108,213)
(787,645) (688,998)
MSERS Total operating expenditure (1,575,300) (1,342,527)
SERRA OPERATING RESULT 542,700 362,768
1R TR B Bh £ EBh Ay OTHER ACTIVITIES FUNDED BY
Hith/EEh DONATIONS AND GRANTS
A Income 26 176,811 162,777
FZ Expenditure 26 (204,839) (193,234)
RESULT OF OTHER ACTIVITIES
1B TR Bt Bh £ EBhAY FUNDED BY DONATIONS AND
HitFB) R GRANTS (28,028) (30,457)
IMPAIRMENT LOSS OF INVESTMENT
REMERERE PROPERTIES 6 (149,000) -

B 758 E FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024
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Hithkr & Wt/ (B518)
AEMDEERTEZ
1HE
FERETR

FREGWEETE
SECE
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BE_Z_NMENA=T—HLEEFE

H‘I'F iﬁl‘&ﬁni
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2024

UEBTEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
}\E_+ EI NB=+—H
IEEEE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
B 31st August 2024 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $'000
NET RESULT BEFORE INTEREST
AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND
FINANCE COST 365,672 332,311
Net interest and investment income 33 431,580 192,330
Finance cost 21 (2,362) (2,067)
SURPLUS BEFORE INCOME TAX 794,890 522,574
Income tax expense 34 (124) (8,567)
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 794,766 519,007
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS)
Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
Currency translation differences 5 2,325 (5,567)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR 797,091 513,440
ALLOCATED TO:
Specific funds 1,512 (7,518)
General and exchange reserves 795,579 520,958
797,091 513,440

MR E FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024
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GEEERBREHR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BHEZ_NFE/\B=+—HLFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2024

LL%E%*% Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
—fE R
EEREE
ZHESE Generaland
Specific exchange 4z
funds reserves Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
==

NB—BZ &R Balance as at 1st September 2022 301,525 4,292,658 4,594,183
FR(EE)/ &R (Deficit)/surplus for the year (7,518) 526,525 519,007
Hitiz & 8518 Other comprehensive loss:

TEBINMEBAE Exchange difference arising from

TS ERRPIEEZ translation of a foreign subsidiary’s
PERERE financial statements - (5,567) (5,567)
- (5,567) (5,567)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
FREGRE(B518)/ I E%E  the year (7,518) 520,958 513,440
B BMER Reallocation of funds 8,041 (8,041) -

TEZ=

NB=+—Hz#&8R Balance as at 31st August 2023 302,048 4,805,575 5,107,623
i ——

NWB—BZ & Balance as at 1st September 2023 302,048 4,805,575 5,107,623
FREER Surplus for the year 1,512 793,254 794,766
HiimE W - Other comprehensive income:

TEBINEB AT Exchange difference arising from

MBWRRMEEZ translation of a foreign subsidiary’s
ERZERE financial statements - 2,325 2,325
- 2,325 2,325
FREGEEINRAREE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,512 795,579 797,091
EE 2 EMER Reallocation of funds 1,734 (1,734) -
g o 111 - 3
NB=1+—BzZ &R Balance as at 31st August 2024 305,294 5,599,420 5,904,714

BEERi#FHE 2 BEFHIIIN S -

Details of movements in funds and reserves are set out in note 5.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

BHEZZ_NFN\A=+—HLFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31ST AUGUST 2024

UEBTEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
BEZE .ﬂi BEZZT"=
NB=+— NB=+—
&EE tEF
Year ended Year ended
P 5F 31st August 2024 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $°000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 37.1 1,049,117 652,777
Tax refund/(paid) 130 (8,439)
Net cash generated from operating
activities 1,049,247 649,338
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 144,183 81,086
Investment income received 74,173 85,567
Fund management and custody fees
paid (5,885) (5,185)
Funds placed in designated financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss (696,134) (952,563)
Funds withdrawn from designated
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 349,547 872,174
Proceeds from matured and disposed
financial investments at amortised
cost 35 35
Purchases of investment property 6 (991,970) -
Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (120,812) (152,173)
Sale proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment 309 43
Student loans granted to students (13,176) (13,658)
Student loans repaid by students 8,165 2,086
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits
with original maturities over three
months 1,044,050 (1,427,000)
Net cash used in investing activities (207,515) (1,509,588)
Cash flows from financing activities
Lease payments
- Principal elements (27,620) (19,707)
- Interest elements 21 (2,362) (2,067)
Net cash used in financing activities 37.2 (29,982) (21,774)
Net changes in cash and cash
equivalents 811,750 (882,024)
Cash and cash equivalents at
1st September 1,170,228 2,057,533
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 2,222 (5,281)
Cash and cash equivalents at
31st August 15 1,984,200 1,170,228

n‘I-F EE ﬁ ;)tl‘l. E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WU#ET4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
=52 1o
1. —REH

11 FEHEFKRZ (TKE]) R—NAN\IE
FEZ+HEBREBEESBEAREEZMRE
B(1989) R IL A EE U AREE AR
RESEHEHDT BELUUIEEE2EAR
REMBAKFT MR EFTENLSER
HEER-

1.2 RIFHEILBKFEAREZ FEREFR A
MTHZERTSER) > RS ER/MEK
FEERTABERMEARAERAS
BEE-NAAZ/—AN=FEL-—N
N=/—ANEEERK REUBER
BAEE -

1.3 —AAAFE A EREEMIEREL
HERRABETHE=ZRFTE > BUFR
—NARETBARBREBRMAEEH
BZ BYERAERTEER IUBT
SPEPTARIRIZ

NERBR—ANAtEtERRZ+—HER
TEBAREEBSR(IEST)REI(1997)
BREANR—NANtERAB=Z+BHK
AKEH W EREBAREE2RIEHL
(1989) BB AR E PR (1B 5T) 1565
(1997) > AEBARKB2EFHIERK

YEER_TE_—FhB—HEBEBT
(021EBFBRARAKRB(E)FRHE
£) BBARAKBROETHEEL
BRERG - IRIBZIFH) > RERZFZ
—FNA—BEZRABTEBHEGARE -

1.4 AEWBATIMNIEZEHRIINGAMTE
RRMFI-KBREWB AR MRES
TEEmE) o

1.5 AREMEMtUAFTBNEAXAKE
#1305k ©

1.6 BRIBERA FiEEMBHREREUBET
TTABL
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1.1

1.2

1.3

14

1.5

1.6

General information

Hong Kong Metropolitan University, “the University”, was
established as a body corporate on 25th May 1989 under The
Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong Ordinance 1989 for the
provision of opportunities for higher education in Hong Kong by
means of open learning and thereby to advance learning and
knowledge, and to enhance economic and social development
in Hong Kong.

Under the Memorandum of Administration Arrangements which
provides the framework for the operational relationship between
the Government and the University, the Government met the
setting up and capital costs of the University by giving a grant in
each financial year up to 1992/1993. Starting from 1993/1994,
the University became self-financing.

Upon the third review of the Institute by Hong Kong Council
for Academic Accreditation (“HKCAA”) in June 1995 and
the successful transfer of accrediting role from HKCAA, the
Government confirmed the Institute’s self-accrediting status to
validate its own degree programmes in October 1996.

On 30th May 1997, the Institute was upgraded to a university
following The Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong
(Amendment) Ordinance 1997 passed by the Legislative
Council on 21st May 1997. The Open Learning Institute of Hong
Kong Ordinance 1989 and The Open Learning Institute of Hong
Kong (Amendment) Ordinance 1997 had been repealed and
superseded by The Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance.

On 1st September 2021, The Open University of Hong Kong
(Amendment) Bill 2021 was passed by the Legislative Council.
The Open University of Hong Kong Ordinance had been
amended as Hong Kong Metropolitan University Ordinance.
Pursuant to the Ordinance, the name of the University was
changed from “The Open University of Hong Kong” to “Hong Kong
Metropolitan University” with effect from 1st September 2021.

The principal activities of the University’s subsidiaries are set out
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. The University
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The address of its registered office is 30 Good Shepherd Street,
Homantin, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of HK dollars ($’000), unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

21

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the financial
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”) and interpretations (collectively HKFRS) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of designated financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
instruments, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1st
September 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1
(Revised)

Presentation of Financial
Statements

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and

Errors

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes

Amendments to HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 17
(Amendments)

Insurance Contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WU#ET4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2.

21
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2.

2.1

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Apart from the above, no other amendments that are mandatory
for the financial year commencing on 1st September 2023 are
relevant and applicable to the Group.

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1st

September 2024 and have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. None of these are expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group, except the following set out below:

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation 1st January 2024
(Amendments) of Financial
Statements
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash 1st January 2024
(Amendments) Flows
HKAS 21 The Effects of 1st January 2025
(Amendments) Changes in Foreign

Exchange Rates

HKAS 28 (2011)

Investments in

To be announced

(Amendments) Associates and Joint
Ventures
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:  1st January 2024
(Amendments) Disclosures
HKFRS 10 Consolidated To be announced
(Amendments) Financial
Statements
HKFRS 16 Lease 1st January 2024
(Amendments)
HK Interpretation 5 Presentation 1st January 2024
(Revised) of Financial
Statements —

Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that contains
a Repayment on
Demand Clause




2.1

2.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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2.2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without 1st January 2027
Public Accountability:
Disclosures
HKFRS 18 Presentation and 1st January 2027
Disclosure in Financial
Statements
HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the 1st January 2026
HKFRS 17 Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments
Amendments to  Presentation of 1st January 2027

HK Int 5 Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that contains

a Repayment on

Demand Clause

The Group will apply the new standard, amendments to
standards and interpretations in the year of initial application.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of
the new standard, amendments to standards and interpretations
and is not yet in a position to state whether they would have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WU#ET4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
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2.

2.2

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date through surplus or deficit.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 either in surplus or deficit or as a change to other
comprehensive income/(loss). Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

2.2

2.3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration
arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
the subsidiaries are accounted for by the University on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in a subsidiary is required
upon receiving dividends from the investment if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwiill.

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term vyields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property.

Investment property is carried at cost, including related
transaction costs, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of leasehold land and buildings of the investment
properties is provided using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of investment properties over a period of 20-50 years
or over the remaining lease period, whichever is shorter, after
taking into account of their estimated residual values.
Depreciation of furniture, fixtures and equipment of the
investment properties is provided using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of investment properties over their
estimated useful lives of 3-5 years, after taking into account of
their estimated residual values. Where the carrying amount of
an investment property is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount, itis written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
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Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance
costs are expensed in surplus or deficit during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its carrying
amount at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at the cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Construction in progress is stated at cost which includes
development and construction expenditure and other direct
costs attributable to the development less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Costs are transferred
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated accordingly,
upon completion and/or receipt of the occupation permit issued
by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”)
Government, where applicable.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2.5

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified
as finance lease

Remaining lease period

Buildings 20 - 50 years or lease period,

whichever is shorter

Renovation costs 5 years or period of tenancy

agreement whichever is

shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 3 - 5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets — computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and any directly attributable cost of
preparing the asset for its intended use. The intangible assets
are initially recognised at costs less impairment losses and are
amortised upon completion of the user-acceptance test.
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2.

BETECRBE (48) 2.

Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
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Intangible assets — computer software (continued)

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the
software product include costs of employee benefits and
professional fees arising directly from bringing the asset to its

working condition.

ERAEEZBERRGRAMGHIER
FHI=F5HEHN -

REEMAG 2 ERNELREDS
TiHe
26 EHMEE
2.6.1 ##A

FERRKERAEMERMEENERH
BREBERRMATESCNEME
EXRBHERAFE - PBEHANEFE
EERTMREKAEMEREEZER
BRARBEMESKFRRMIE

2.6

Costs associated with maintaining computer
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Computer software recognised as assets are amortised over
their estimated useful lives of 3 years.

software

Financial assets
2.6.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial investments and other financial
assets either those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, or those to be measured at amortised
cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial investments and other financial

assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
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The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the end of reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets which are managed in accordance
with internal documented risk management guidelines
or investment strategy provided by the Group’s key
management personnel. Assets in this category are stated
at fair value and classified as current assets.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
2.6.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the investments have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value.

2.6.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the University, its
subsidiaries or the counterparty.

Stock of course materials

Stock of course materials are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses or value in use, wherever appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.
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2.10

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Receivables

Receivables include tuition fee receivables, student loan
receivables and other receivables incurred under the ordinary
course of business. If collection of receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

The Group measures the expected credit losses using a lifetime
expected loss allowance for tuition fee receivables and student
loan receivables. For other receivables, the Group measures
the expected credit losses using 12 months expected loss
allowance. The expected loss rates are based on the historical
observed default rates adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

Impairment losses on receivables are recognised within
operating result. Receivables are written off (either partially or
in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LAETHE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting year whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors
oragroup of debtorsis experiencing significantfinancial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For accounts receivable and student loan receivables, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than accounts receivable and student loan receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost other than accounts receivable and student
loan receivables has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
receivables are not settled in accordance with the terms stipulated
in the agreements, management considers these receivables as
underperforming or non-performing and impairment is measured
as lifetime expected credit loss.
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Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

Contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer or student,
the Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the
customer or student and assumes performance obligations to
transfer goods or provide services to the customer or student.
The contract is a liability and recognised as fee income receipt
in advance if the measure of the remaining performance
obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights. The
Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or student within contract assets if the Group
expects to recover those costs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. No provision will be made for future anticipated
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlements is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Payables

Accounts payables are obligations to pay for goods and
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business. Payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Loans from the HKSAR Government

Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Loans are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds net of transaction
costs and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the loans
using the effective interest method.

Loans are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. A contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset if the customer has both the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from using the identified
asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

As alessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (including
within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and
buildings” in the consolidated balance sheet) and a lease
liability at the lease commencement date, except for leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less which are recognised as
expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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BETBCRBE (48) 2.

Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
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2.16 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets

At inception, the right-of-use asset is initially measured at
the amount of the lease liability, initial direct costs and the
obligation to restore the asset, less any incentive granted
by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
lease term of the underlying asset. The right-of-use asset is
subject to impairment review whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

Lease liabilities

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of future lease payments with reference to an expected
lease term, which includes optional lease periods when
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to
extend or not to terminate the lease. Future lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease,
if this cannot be readily determined, an incremental
borrowing rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset. The lease liability is
subsequently measured by increasing its carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective
interest rate method) and by reducing its carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made. The lease liability is
remeasured (with a corresponding adjustment made to the
related right-of-use asset) when there is a change in future
lease payments in case of renegotiation, changes of an
index or rate or in case of reassessment of options.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
income tax. Tax is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

2.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(@)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.18 Income recognition

Tuition fee income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the courses/programmes to which it relates.

Miscellaneous income consists of application fee, advance
standing claim fee, graduation fee, etc.; and are recognised

when services are rendered.

Consultancy fee income is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease period.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Miscellaneous income is recognised on an accruals basis.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

Income recognition (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s income by timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations:

Year ended
31st August 2024
$°000

Income from contracts with customers and students
At a point in time 64,287
Over time 2,053,713
2,118,000
Income from other sources 176,811
2,294,811
Year ended
31st August 2023
$°000

Income from contracts with customers and students
At a point in time 79,127
Over time 1,626,168
1,705,295
Income from other sources 162,777
1,868,072
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Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.19 Capital fund, deferred capital fund and other specific

funds

The capital fund is set up to reflect funds of the Group allocated
for the purchase or construction of property, plant and
equipment. They are released to match with depreciation
of related assets over their useful lives or upon disposal of
property, plant and equipment.

The deferred capital fund is set up to reflect grants and
donations earmarked for the purchase or construction of
property, plant and equipment. The fund will be recognised as
income to match with the depreciation charge of the related
assets over their useful lives or upon disposal of property, plant
and equipment.

Other specific funds are set up to support the Group’s
activities such as course development, student loan scheme,
research projects, scholarships and bursaries to students,
building maintenance, IT development, etc. They are released
when the related expenses are incurred.

2.20 Donations and benefactions

General donations and benefactions are recognised as income
when right to receive has been established.

Specific donations and benefactions received or receivable
(other than for purchase or construction of property, plant and
equipment which are dealt with as deferred capital fund in
note 2.19 above) are initially recorded as deferred income and
recognised as income over the periods to match with the related
expenditure.

Matching grants are recognised as income when grants have
been received or are receivable from the Government.

Other government grant or sponsorship (other than for purchase
or construction of property, plant and equipment which are dealt
with as deferred capital fund in note 2.19 above), together with
the interest income arising therefrom, is recorded as deferred
income, when there is a reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching with it and that the
grant or the sponsorship will be received. They are recognised
as income over the period to match with the costs they are
intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

2.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LAETHE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

2.21 Foreign currency translation

(@)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the University’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in surplus or deficit.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities, such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss, are recognised in surplus or deficit as part of
the fair value gain or loss.

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate of the balance sheet
date;
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2.21 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group entities (continued)

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income/(loss).

2.22 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for unutilised annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlement to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement scheme obligations

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes in Hong Kong are expensed as incurred.

The Group contributes to an employee retirement scheme
established by municipal government in respect of a
subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
The municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. Contributions to this
scheme are expensed as incurred.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of amounts payable
on cessation of employment in certain circumstances under
the employment law of the respective regions in which
the Group operates is the amount of future benefits that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Long service payments (continued)

Long service payments are assessed using the projected
unit credit method. The cost of providing the long service
payment liabilities is charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income so as to spread the cost over the
service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of
the actuaries.

Long service payments are discounted to determine the
present value of obligation and reduced by entitlement
accrued under the Group’s defined contribution plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions, current
service costs, interest expenses and past-service costs
are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

2.24 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Changes
in fair value are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Financial risk and capital risk management

Financial risk factors

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities mainly in connection with investment in securities,
certain of which the currencies are not the Group entities’
functional currencies.

The majority of them are denominated in US dollars (“USD”).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
balance sheet date to reasonable possible changes in the
foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, on the Group’s surplus/deficit after income

BRAEA1%- tax. 1% is the sensitivity rate that represents management’s
assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

ShEE SMESEESE EF [ (TFRX) HERRR/ BRZEE

Foreign Currency Increase/(decrease) in exchange rate Effect on surplus/deficit for the year

% $°000

b e - 3

NB=+—H

31st August 2024

7T 1 25,375

usD (1) (25,375)

NB=+—H

31st August 2023

7T 1 17,293

usD (1) (17,293)
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MEBRBRREFSEREERE (B) 3.

Financial risk and capital risk management
(continued)
RERKER (48) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) BRI (b) Price risk
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The Group is exposed to equity and debt securities price
risk because investments held by the Group are classified
as designated financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

The Group’s investment policy is to prudently invest all
funds managed by the Group in a manner which will satisfy
liquidity requirements, safeguard financial assets and
manage risks while optimising return on investments.

Investment and fund management is governed by
investment policies and risk management guidelines
approved by the Council. Investment restrictions and
guidelines form an integral part of risk control. Specific
restrictions and guidelines are set for each fund in
accordance with its investment objectives. In addition,
specific limits are set for each fund to control risks (e.g.
permissible asset type, asset allocation, liquidity, credit,
counterparty concentration, maturity, foreign exchange and
interest rate risks) of the investments.

The Group has a Finance Committee which monitors the
risk and performance of its investments while external
fund managers have also been appointed to manage the
investment funds. The external fund managers are stable
and financially strong financial institutions.
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3. HMEAKKETEKGER (8) 3. Financial risk and capital risk management

31 MBEAKBEE (&)
(b) EERER (48)

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Price risk (continued)

TRETRERGEB HZ5M The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to range
BEFENRAEHEAFEATEK from 0.11% to 1.25% (2023: 0.74% to 1.12%) increase/
0.11%%E1.25% (ZE =5 :0.74% decrease in the fair values of the equity and debt securities
F112%) M E  giie 2 EtMA R with all other variables held constant, based on their
Rgho carrying amounts at the balance sheet date.

HERRR/
BHEZEE

Effect on surplus/
deficit for the year

$°000
“E-mE
NB=+—H
31st August 2024
EHEMESEMNBERIZBEALEE  Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with
J:%|-0.11%;|:1.25% applicable rates ranging from 0.11% to 1.25% 23,596
BEMESMNERIGERLEER  Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with
"FE%O.11%;|:1.25% applicable rates ranging from 0.11% to 1.25% (23,596)
NB=+—H
31st August 2023
EHEMEHNERZBEABLEZE  Increase in prices of equity and debt securities with
J:9'+0.74%;|;1.12% applicable rates ranging from 0.74% to 1.12% 15,379
EEMESNERZBEHBLLE  Decrease in prices of equity and debt securities with
TE?EO.74%;.;1.12% applicable rates ranging from 0.74% to 1.12% (15,379)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management

(continued)

3.1
©

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its deposits
with banks and investment managers, financial assets at
amortised cost, student loan receivables and accounts
receivable, other receivables and deposits.

At the balance sheet date, there was no concentration of
credit risk. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amounts of cash deposits
with banks, financial assets at amortised cost, student loan
receivables and accounts receivable, other receivables and
deposits.

The Group has policies in place for the control and
monitoring its credit risk. Fee income primarily has to be
received in advance before service is rendered. Deposits
are placed with banks and investment managers which are
all high-credit-quality financial institutions. Follow-up action
is taken in case of overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of receivables
individually to identify any irrecoverable amounts to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for them.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to
meet liabilities and/or financial commitments as they fall
due, and it results from the amount and maturity mismatch
of assets and liabilities.

The Group has prudent liquidity risk management policy in
place by maintaining sufficient cash and short-term bank
deposits and keeping investments sufficiently liquid to meet
the operating needs. The Group employs projected cash
flow analysis to manage liquidity risk by forecasting the
amount of cash required and monitoring the working capital
of the Group to ensure that all liabilities due and known
funding requirements could be met.
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3. MEBEARKEFSERER () 3.

Financial risk and capital risk management
(continued)

31 MBRAKREZE (8) 3.1
(d) mEBETRER (8)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

TEREERIBEINERN TR
AR UERENGEEENGHRE

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the balance sheet date, based on the contractual

46

RRIEEE undiscounted payments, was as follows:
—FR —FFRF hFE et
Within 1 year 1 to5years After5 years Total
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
—E-mE
NB=+—H 31st August 2024
Government loans,
BRBEIREER secured 31,700 255,100 240,000 526,800
HEaRE Lease liabilities 34,473 71,050 22,622 128,145
FEATERFR K2 Accounts payable and
FEst&EA accrued expenses 331,869 - - 331,869
Derivative financaial
TEESREaE instruments 1,489 - = 1,489
399,531 326,150 262,622 988,303
NB=+—H 31st August 2023
Government loans,
HBEERFEER secured - 246,800 280,000 526,800
HeEa’ Lease liabilities 25,294 62,744 23,814 111,852
FE(TBR R K Accounts payable and
[EsTE R accrued expenses 237,493 - = 237,493
262,787 309,544 303,814 876,145
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WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

RERABREREBER (48) 3. Financial risk and capital risk management
(continued)

MBREER (48) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e) REMERATFEFEEAR (e) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
EETENEEMEBR -EEZR The Group has no interest-bearing financial liabilities. The
EREBRAFEMEXREFEEHRIR Group is exposed to cash flow and fair value interest rate
ERREEBYRESENEESH risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing
BENMRNEMmES- financial assets, mainly the cash and cash equivalents and

debt securities.
TRETEERREBERE/BERS The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
HHHEMERENSEEEHNHE balance sheet date to reasonable possible changes in the
EogiieeEMRERERE - interest rates, with all other variables held constant, on the
Group’s surplus/deficit after income tax.
HERARER/
RITEMR -AFRE - RERRTEEY UFRAEERT) FELEFA/ (TE) BEZEE
Bank deposits, investment in bonds and cash and cash Increase/(decrease) Effect on surplus/
equivalents in different currencies in interest rate deficit for the year
%o $°000
—EME
NB=+—H
31st August 2024
BT 1 24,412
HKD ) (24,412)
JEETT 1 2,272
Non-HKD A) (2,272)
Hast 1 26,684
Total ) (26,684)
===
NB=+—H
31st August 2023
BT 1 25,253
HKD (1) (25,253)
BT 1 2,489
Non-HKD (1) (2,489)
485 1 27,742
Total (1) (27,742)

[ ]
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WU#ET4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

3. MBEAKRKREFEKEER (B)

3.2 BXREKBER

EEEFEEEREREERZE
BRERE UREEHESHFTIRA
B RAFREESRBUEBMRRK

BREo

EEEEEZTRIERRKRZERES

CFEEE
AR RFAFRERER G BIERE
HERARERHEARBURRERR

RERAYRE -FAHEERE R

EEARE -

3.3 AF{afh=Et

TRRBEFEIABENGERMTHR
FREREINBMANER DHAEER
ARBEARNEMIA - ELEHAR

RARNBEERRBEANT=E:

s HREEHAEEETENSHNRE

(RAEHE) (F—E) -

s RTE—EFFEENKREN

(B/E)

s BEMBRIIIFKRBAIEETSHE
BVEA (BIIERTBRRBmA) (=)
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3.

3.2

3.3

Financial risk and capital risk management
(continued)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide sufficient funding to support the existing operations and
to maintain a strong capital base for future development of its
business.

The Group’s management actively and regularly reviews
and manages its capital structure to ensure an optimal
capital structure, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, projected
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditure and
projected strategic investment opportunities.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used
to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

* Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).



3.3

MBRREREFSERER (8)

ATEIE ()

TREAEER-_ZEZNFENA=+—
AR—ZF_=FN\A=+—BULTFE
EBEtENEERER:

R-E_WE
NB=+—H
BE
BiBiR R RIRAF
BEECNEMEE
FFEHKE

- BEEES

- BlEWmEE
-RERMEEZENR
A
WMEEE

afa

TEERER

-SNEERSX
MeEE

NB=+—H
HE
BBIRm R RIRATF
BEECHNEMEE
FETRE

- BIfSstE®
-EEWmEE

- R EREE ZTF R
- &%

EHRRE
TTEEMEE

9|\ELHH = IIIJ
MEEE

e M B ImRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

@

(continued)

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Financial risk and capital risk management

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

As at 31st August 2024

Assets

Designated financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Unlisted investments
- Unit trusts
- Fixed income funds
- Deposits at financial institutions
Listed investments
Total assets
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
- Foreign exchange forward
contracts

Total liabilities

As at 31st August 2023

Assets

Designated financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Unlisted investments

- Unit trusts

- Fixed income funds

- Deposits at financial institutions

- Bonds

Listed investments

Derivative financial instruments

- Foreign exchange forward
contracts

Total assets

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value at 31st August 2024 and 2023:

BB BB B=E 4EEt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
1,479,870 - - 1,479,870
1,170,658 - - 1,170,658
6,782 - - 6,782
576 - - 576
2,657,886 - - 2,657,886
- (1,489) - (1,489)
- (1,489) - (1,489)
965,891 - - 965,891
1,028,432 - - 1,028,432
13,590 - - 13,590
34,475 - - 34,475
494 - - 494
- 1,741 - 1,741
2,042,882 1,741 - 2,044,623
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3.

3.3

MEBRBRRESEREEE (8)

AFEEE (8)

EERTSEENERITANAAEE
W%EE%%EEM$%$EW$°E
WERTRIRMERRRSFZZM
SR ERAT EFWF%YEA
REES MEEFREARBRIATRS
BEEETHNBERNBERTEXZRK > &
TERERA IR AEEFANTHE
ENTEREAERELRE -ILEFT
AEEESE—RE-

WERERTIZEEZE/M T A (ME
BRBZTETIR)ZARBEUGEE
BE ZSEELIESERABEEMRED
BB MELRBERRBEM M
STETRAATEMAERBARIEIIS
RS LETAEEESE_E-
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3.

3.3

Financial risk and capital risk management
(continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.



EETsHERR=R

FEFEREBEBETFECRRAMEASR > f
WEERMBR ITHRREHNEGERSN
F > NESTEPRER b FT R RER ©

FEEHRRFLEERBR -FITZ
gt ERLBROEMNEBRERME
FFoUTHERTHAERERRAIEER
MEMHEEHEEMERNIREER
FERABN G RIRE&

() ME-KBRREEBENHEERE
MWE5D:

FANEERERMENEEAER
B HERATERREYHINER
BERE RBRRRDBAZMUR
FEAREMEMNAEL M KREZE
VN ERTD NFEEYITER
BEEMAE-

(b) FEUARFRBE LT

EERBEEBWIRR AT U [E 2R 2 57
MR EWRRREEE - EF
EREHRERIRFEE  BRER
A BE R W BB o B g SR IR(E
EE-EHRBBRRHEREEE
BHE Rk Est - ETRHEE G5t
TR MAEMERGR ERKIR
MPREE BWIRRBBAES R
ZIR(EE R R F R

e M B ImRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Separation of prepayment of lease premium from property,
plant and equipment:

The valuation of prepayment of lease premium has been
performed by an external valuer by valuing the depreciated
replacement cost of the buildings and then deducting the
depreciated replacement cost of the buildings from the
initial consideration paid for the leasehold land and the
building in the People’s Republic of China.

(b) Estimated impairment of receivables:

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of the
receivables. Provisions are applied to receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will have impact
on the carrying value of receivables and impairment
of receivables is recognised in the year in which such
estimates have been changed.
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4. (48)

EETsHERRER 4.

Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions (continued)

Cc ME-BERXB -EREEE
BREEMRRBEVMEZGFAER
FH:

©

FEREEE2EHELHZEE
HR R BERH IS EHEMER
BYTR B i 7 R B R AN A S B 5t
BEERLSEEMERSREKEE
Mmz AR EEAEEYE
WERRFE ERESE BILEE
RIEEMEZESHEIEREH o
AEAFRELRGFERR &
BEEREINERBHER IR
i EiBR R ERENHEZIER
B 5 7 i B SRR o B PR AT R A B
B A SR A EH - EH
e FIAEE T EE F I BRI &
EZiE/ SR AE -

REWERNRE:

EEEERENETIRSKRENE
AR AREELEEU - AERIN
BREHAREFTASBNINLER
#pkEYERS LR EER
Z-E#HNERAETFRNERE
MENTWE RN ZHREHARR
BHEBREVENAABERALE
RARFEREEEZEANREE
EITE G -

EEEFEIREEHEBREY
EEREE ZEBEERRREMH
RERREREBRAFEANRR
EEERANIERRBERAK
A FRREER A K BIERERA
R/Ko
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Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and investment
properties:

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
investment properties with reference to the estimated
lease period of the leasehold land, expected technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in the market and that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. Management will revise the depreciation and
amortisation charges where useful lives are different
to previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may
differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could
result in a change in depreciable lives and therefore
depreciation / amortisation expense in future years.

Impairment of investment properties

Each investment property is identified as a cash-generating
unit (“CGU”) by management for the purpose of impairment
assessment. Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to assess
whether any investment properties display impairment
indicators. The recoverable amount of each of the
investment properties with impairment indicators identified
is assessed at the end of each reporting period based on
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-
in-use (“VIU”) calculation of the respective investment
properties.

Management’s judgments are involved in the determination
of VIU of the respective investment properties which
is assessed based on the assumptions used in the
compilation of the underlying future cash flow forecast.
The key assumptions adopted by management include
forecasted revenue, forecasted operating costs, terminal
growth rate and discount rate.



5.

HEB{## £ Funds and reserves

EREE Specific Funds

General
Development
—AREEBfEE  Reserve

BLEEHES Student Loan Fund

Donations and
Benefactions

Building Related
EERIEHRME  Facilities Sinking

515488h

RREEE Fund
BARES Capital Fund
EEREE Statutory Reserve
g Fundh
—RgfEfE General Reserve
FRRER Surplus for the year
EER#E Exchange Reserve

A RBREES RIIBMARBEREFFENEDZTEALE#FEES - BEERFAESEINGEMREANENZA TR EFFLE

BRALE#EBES

Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund. Appropriation
to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered share capital.

BE_EZE-—F+_A=1+—R RUBRNEE#FEESEEINEMRANEDZE+ - Bt FRINMLAR - _FIEER

4= A
T O = |

RA 35 3R R Y 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

NG
Movements for the year
EBIMNHIE
DEMFERR
FRE®Z
EREE
Exchange
difference
N-B=-= BEER arising from HMRZF_MUE
hB—H R4 #EEZ translation /\B=+—H
24 WARZEH EioEc of a foreign 1
As at Income/ Reallocation subsidiary’s As at
1st September Expenditure of funds financial  31st August
2023 recognition and reserves statements 2024
$'000 $000 $°000 $000 $'000
100,000 (1,734) 1,734 - 100,000
157,080 4,678 - - 161,758
30,433 124 - - 30,557
13,374 - (13,374) - .
686 (1,556) 13,374 - 12,504
475 - - - 475
302,048 1,512 1,734 - 305,294
4,809,740 793,254 (1,734) - 5,601,260
794,766
(4,165) - - 2,325 (1,840)
5,107,623 794,766 - 2,325 5,904,714

AREEMRAPEERRILEERES -

As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital. As a result,

there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.
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5.

HEB#E® (&) Funds and reserves (continued)
FREH
Movements for the year
TE SIS
DEMBERER
FRE®Z
EREE
Exchange
difference
ATEIC HER arising from PRZEZ=
hB—H B #EEZ translation /\B=+—H
24 WARZE EioEc of a foreign 255
As at Income/ Reallocation subsidiary’s As at
1st September Expenditure of funds financial  31st August
2022 recognition and reserves statements 2023
$000 $000 $°000 $°000 $'000
HREE Specific Funds
General
Development
—RREEEEE  Reserve 100,000 (8,041) 8,041 - 100,000
BAEHESE Student Loan Fund 154,404 2,676 - - 157,080
Donations and
ShSREEN Benefactions 31,580 (1,147) - - 30,433
Building Related
BERIBERME  Facilities Sinking
REEE Fund 13,374 - - - 13,374
BEAREE Capital Fund 1,692 (1,006) - - 686
ETEEE Statutory Reserve
e Fundn 475 - - - 475
301,525 (7,518) 8,041 - 302,048
—Rg (&S General Reserve 4,291,256 526,525 (8,041) - 4,809,740
FARER Surplus for the year 519,007
EER S Exchange Reserve 1,402 - - (5,567) (4,165)
4,594,183 519,007 - (5,567) 5,107,623

A IREBREES) RIIMAEREFFHENEDZTEA

BRALE#EBEES

EERBES BERERBESE

FEMRANESZE R EREL

Under the PRC regulations, MU-Shenzhen is required to transfer 10% of its net profit to the Statutory Reserve Fund. Appropriation
to the Statutory Reserve Fund may cease when the balance of such reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered share capital.

BECZE—F+_A=+—H RITANZE#EESCEIZRRANEIZE+ - Hit RNBAH S _FH]ER
AREBUHRFPERENEIL#EERES-

As at 31st December 2001, the balance of Statutory Reserve Fund has attained 50% of its registered share capital. As a result,
there was no appropriation transferred to this reserve fund account from Recurrent Account since 2002.
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2 EYE Investment properties

g el 111 - MWZEZ=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August At 31st August
2024 2023
$°000 $'000
573 Cost
RE¥) 2 458k At beginning of the financial year 167,203 167,681
e (MEE()) Additions (Note (i) 991,970 -
EAYE I3 KRE  Transfer to Property, plant and equipment
(SEAD) (Note (ii)) (80,499) -
B SR (Y 5 (iif)) Impairment loss (Note (iii)) (149,000) -
FER AR Exchange adjustment 197 (478)
RERZ 458K At end of the financial year 929,871 167,203
RetineE Accumulated depreciation
R EFEV 2 48R At beginning of the financial year 40,510 37,453
FRNEER Depreciation for the year 3,362 3,506
B ISRk Transfer to Property, plant and equipment
(D)) (Note (ii)) (17,844) -
R Exchange adjustment 193 (449)
MNERZ R At end of the financial year 26,221 40,510
MRERZREFE Net book value at end of the
(BFEE(iv)) financial year (Note (iv)) 903,650 126,693
sk :
Notes:

() BE_Z_MFENB=+—HLEFE £FEBEBRMIIZWE TANALHENEe6MesENYE  WEREREFRERES

B fFERNEATET-

During the year ended 31st August 2024, the Group acquired a property via a share deal, located at No. 86 and No. 88 Wuhu Street,

Hung Hom, which is used for student hostel purposes (“MU88”). The total consideration amounted to $990,000,000.

iy HBE_Z_MNFNA=+—HLFE > ZRHSBQO+RZILBEUEHNEAREANKERR - ZBMHFREERTZ

BATEBETTIREBAME - BB RRE FINMWEET7-

During the year ended 31st August 2024, the half floor of the 12th floor of the Kwai Hing Learning Centre was converted into
classrooms for teaching and learning purposes. The net book value of the converted space, amounting to $62,655,000, was

transferred to property, plant, and equipment, as disclosed in note 7.
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6.

KREYE (48) Investment properties (continued)

B SE (48) -

Notes (continued):

(iii)

(iv)

V)

EEENRESHRBH S REYENRTLUHNAERER WAt HE AR ERREETREST G
Management reviews the performance of each investment property at the end of the reporting period to identify impairment
indicators, and performs impairment assessment where impairment indicator is identified.

EEEEAENETIREKREYERNARSELE M - BEHIRERENSREYENTREISE N REIARETIG
Each of the investment properties is identified as a CGU by management in the impairment assessment. The recoverable amount
of each investment property with impairment indicators identified is assessed at the end of the reporting period.

RIBZMFNA=+—B > IR A BE S EHee M8 MENL T HEEENEREFE At AERMEEER S
AT #HAE 86T MBBIEMM X RIRBEN R > M Z Y E(FH R BT o

At 31st August 2024, the estimated market value of MU88 was below its net book value. The management of the Group therefore
concluded that there were impairment indicators identified on MU88 and conducted impairment assessment on the properties.

ReELBAMANESEREHEEBEINEERGERANRESRERACENFEREEHEET HEaNATERLE
A REMBTHEA6%MIRANRLIREALIR o B 55 A B BL IR = BRI 1% AL W) 23 7 865 M1 885 RV 25 B S B RARYIS /E A% ©
The recoverable amount of MU88 is determined based on VIU calculations derived from cash flow projections forecasted by
management covering the remaining lease term, which is higher than the fair value less costs of disposal. The cash flows are
discounted using pre-tax discount rate of 6%. The discount rate used reflects the specific risks relating to MU88.

B%ﬁﬁiﬁ"‘?%’ﬁﬁé&i%ﬁﬁ’]ﬁ%iﬁzﬁﬁrﬁﬁﬁE’Jﬁﬁﬂﬁ{ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁE’JET&EE@E 5% G145 TR R W A~ TR B Bl A ek 4B 1B
o ZERRIVBBEEER RN AL 2865 M 88T R KRS B ETT 5t o

Other than discount rate, other key assumptions for the VIU calculations related to the estimation of CGUs’ cash flows included

forecasted revenue, forecasted operating costs and terminal growth rate, which are estimated based on the management’s plan

for MU88.

RBETHRETGEER U AL Hee M8 EREEBRHET KRBT ALBE—_T_MEN\A=+—H
LFEEMZYERIREN—EOTFAEET(ZEZF :Tx) -

Based on the results of the impairment assessment conducted, the net book value of MU88 exceeded its recoverable amount and
therefore impairment of approximately $149,000,000 was recognised during the year ended 31st August 2024 (2023: Nil).

RIBZEFENA=+—H REREBNEEZDR O B+ BIREYVENATEEA—RE—BEXT(ZZE=F:ZF
=ETN\BEER) LTAEERE— BB USEENGERE — KFTTEEBERAR  UAHT S EEFAREEMETHE-
The fair value of the investment properties located on the 12th floor of Kowloon Commerce Centre Il in Hong Kong (the “Kwai Hing
Learning Centre”) as at 31st August 2024 was $101,000,000 (2023: $238,000,000) representing the valuation carried out by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on an open market value basis.

RIZBZOFENA=+—H RINBRARFAENREYEN R FEEAB/\TABETR(ZE=F "B\ +tBtFx)
I EBERR —EBIEXNGERS — XMITHERBBERAT  URHTHEEFEAREEMETAE - HEMA Lt fE
AENFBRANR_ZZHEFENA=+—HZ AT EFTINMEE21

The fair value of the investment properties in PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2024 was $6,855,000 (2023: $6,877,000),
representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on an open market
value basis. Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2024 of the corresponding land use right are disclosed in note 21.

RIEBEZ_WENR=FT—RH AEREBNKREYENREFEATERHN\BR(ZE=F  —RIFRAB+tEOET
7T) BERERAERFITRERIN R S EM(MzE20)

As at 31st August 2024, the investment properties of the University in Hong Kong of the net book value of $60,580,000 (2023:
$126,274,000) has been pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government (Note 20).

753 S FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024



tr e M IR M EE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

Y2 - 18283 B 5% 18 Property, plant and equipment

FRE-RE
N k] Rt
BEEE Furniture,
Leasehold  H:{ERZs IR fixtures == 7]
land and Renovation Construction and Motor 4azE
buildings costs in progress equipment vehicles Total
$000 $000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $000
523 Cost
A —— At 1st September
NWB—BZ&f 2023 2,302,300 361,114 28,811 376,117 2,306 3,070,648
AR Additions - 66,693 11,614 41,651 854 120,812
Transfer from
Investment
EHEEEME Properties (Note
(M E6(ii)) /(i) 80,499 - - - - 80,499
Transfer from
Construction
EBETETRE in progress - 15,062 (26,881) 11,819 - -
& /i 8 Disposal/write-off - (71) - (15,936) (422)  (16,429)
Exchange
BE AR adjustment 17 - - 48 - 65
RZZZTM4E
NB=+—H At 31st August
ZA5RR 2024 2,382,816 442,798 13,544 413,699 2,738 3,255,595
Accumulated
REHihE depreciation
N At 1st September
NB—HZ 48R 2023 627,833 231,730 - 280,792 1,397 1,141,752
EER Depreciation
GED) (Note a) 65,660 38,380 - 46,706 462 151,208
Transfer from
Investment
EBEREME Properties (Note
(MI5E6(ii)) 6(ii)) 17,844 - - - - 17,844
HEE /4 EH Disposal/write-off - (71) - (15,873) (422)  (16,366)
Exchange
BB SR EREE adjustment 16 - - 39 - 55
RIZZMFE
NB=+—H At 31st August
ZEERR 2024 711,353 270,039 - 311,664 1,437 1,294,493
MRITZ2ZOE
JANB=+—H Netbook value at
ZEREFE 31st August 2024 1,671,463 172,759 13,544 102,035 1,301 1,961,102
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7.

Y% - B B2 1B (&) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

A&
fAE 13t RagtE
BEEY) Furniture,
Leasehold (&R IR fixtures =21 7
land and Renovation Construction and Motor 4azg
buildings costs in progress equipment vehicles Total
$'000 ’'000 $'000 $000 $000 $°000
|52 Cost
A At 1st September
NWB—Hz 48R 2022 2,302,342 272,427 18,100 332,029 1,916 2,926,814
=1 Additions - 81,924 23,766 46,093 390 152,173
Transfer from
Construction
BRTETLR in progress - 8,275 (13,055) 4,780 - -
HE /i Disposal/write-off - (1,512) - (6,676) - (8,188)
Exchange
b AR adjustment (42) - - (109) - (151)
RZEB-=%
/\ﬁ =+—H At 31st August
ZHERR 2023 2,302,300 361,114 28,811 376,117 2,306 3,070,648
Accumulated
RHetineE depreciation
S At 1st September
NWE—BZ &8 2022 562,339 204,471 - 245,090 1,066 1,012,966
EER Depreciation
(FizEa) (Note a) 65,528 28,764 - 42,461 331 137,084
&/ EE Disposal/write-off - (1,505) - (6,668) - (8,173)
Exchange
PE AT adjustment (34) - - (91) - (125)
RIZ—=%
NB=+—H At 31st August
1 2023 627,833 231,730 - 280,792 1,397 1,141,752
RIE—=%
JNB=+—H Net book value at
ZREFE 31st August 2023 _ 1,674,467 129,384 28.811 95.325 909 1.928.896
H3%E Note:
() FERMEEHEMBFA:
Depreciation for the year was charged against:
2024 2023
$°000 $'000
TR Administrative expenditure 96,164 80,722
HihEE Other activities 55,044 56,362
151,208 137,084
BERYE -BBIARERNEY A THELHEREREY NEAREECRUNRNEEBZT O _BHNE+ZE

ZEBHEQL(TEEHBERL) )WEELMED AR S _NENAZ+—HZREFENA=ZRITL

BEt+—BrR(CE=fF =B \F—ENHN\EBx)°

Right-of-use asset included within property, plant and equipment as “leasehold land and buildings” includes the
leasehold land of Kwai Hing Learning Centre at 8th to 12th floor of Kowloon Commerce Centre Il (“Kwai Hing Learning
Centre”). As at 31st August 2024, the net book value was estimated to be $369,310,000 (2023: $381,880,000).

A ZE_MENB=A+—B ZREFBRLNREFEARLRETHE _+=87T(

t&8) ERFEREERITHRERNNEEER
As at 31st August 2024, Kwai Hing Learning Centre amounting to the net book value of $554,230,000 (2023:
$504,370,000) has been pledged to secure the interest-free loan from the HKSAR Government.
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WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

25 & Intangible assets

g ] 1 S
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
%N Cost 17,407 18,705
REHITEE Accumulated depreciation (17,407) (18,705)
Net book value as at beginning of the
REDREXR financial year and as at end of the
ZEREFE financial year - -

BREECRANEREERMZBANELREAATERRERRZEEME -

The intangible assets represent the cost of human resources management system acquired and direct attributable

costs incurred.

M}/ A7) Subsidiaries

1 - 3 RIZ2Z=
NB=+—8H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
KB ABZEE
JEETRRD - ¥R Investment in subsidiaries
rME Unlisted shares, at cost 896,912 59,000
REMBAB Z#BEUWT !
Details of the University’s subsidiaries are as follows:
REREFBFRTH
Place of FEER
AELTE incorporation Principal FRiFAG1E
Name and operation activities Interest held
BERHGARB(FE)BRAE (FREERK) BB EREE 100%
Hong Kong Metropolitan University (China) Hong Kong Investment holding  (Ef#EAR
Limited (MU-China) direct holding)
H#HAEERE ORI B RAT (RIIEBK) FREANRHEME R EERIARTS 100%
HKMU Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited The People’s Provision of (EzmR
(MU-Shenzhen) Republic consultancy indirect holding)
of China services
HARMBEREPOBRAT (FAMIERESL) BE E/BENE =Ll 100%
HKMU Physiotherapy Centre Limited Hong Kong Physiotherapy (B1z#%E
(HKMUPC) Centre direct holding)
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9. [MBAT (4&) Subsidiaries (continued)

RE R EBFRTEH
Place of FTEER
ATRIE incorporation Principal FRiFRG1E
Name and operation activities Interest held
HAMRERREBBRAT N IR IE R R 100%
(EBAFRIEE R K BAR) Hong Kong AR5 (EE#EER
HKMU Research Development and Provision of direct holding)
Consultancy Limited (HKMU-RDC) research and
consultancy
services
BEELEABERKERRAT ) RERKRE 100%
(BEBBEARERRE) Hong Kong Alumni Association — (BEiZ#HE
Hong Kong Metropolitan University Alumni direct holding)
Association Limited (HKMUAA)
MU88 Limited (MU88) 5% MERE 100%
(RZZ2ZMHFENB+=HrIA2HHBRAT) Hong Kong Property (B1zHE
(R —ZE_mWEBZ1+H/\B) investment direct holding)

MU88 Limited (MU88)
(Known as Harvest Triumph Limited before
13th August 2024)
(Acquired on 28th June 2024)
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10. #£/4 T B4 8 Financial instruments by category

EREE
BBEmRRRATE
SIENEREE

- IBIBIR TR R
N HEEENEEE
TREE (MEE14)

- TTESHEE
(FF5E14)

BREBIENANERHEE

- I AN ERRE
(F5E13)

- BB ERR(FHFE1)

- FEURERR ~ EAthFEUR
IR R e 2 (FY5E12)

- REEIRBE=ERZ
RITERRRERRE
FEY(HEE15)

A =N
BBEmRRRATE
2EEmar

- FTESRam
(HiEE14)

BB IHR AR H MR
af&

- EERI R FESTE A
(FF5E17)

- BB RS
(F¥E20)

- THESE(MIEE21)

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

- Designated financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss

(Note 14)

- Derivative financial instruments
(Note 14)

Financial assets at amortised cost

- Financial investments at
amortised cost (Note 13)

- Student loan receivables (Note 11)

- Accounts receivable, other

receivables and deposits (Note 12)

- Bank deposits with original

maturities over three months and
cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

- Derivative financial instruments
(Note 14)

Other financial liabilities at
amortised cost

- Accounts payable and
accrued expenses (Note 17)

- Government loans, secured
(Note 20)

- Lease liabilities (Note 21)

fn e M 5 IR R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

g o 111 2 A
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
2,657,886 2,042,882
- 1,741
2,657,886 2,044,623
- 21,445
81,299 76,194
74,869 104,913
2,957,926 3,188,004
3,114,094 3,390,556
5,771,980 5,435,179
1,489 -
1,489 -
331,869 237,493
474,552 464,005
116,979 105,980
923,400 807,478
924,889 807,478
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MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

11. FEURER4E B3R Student loan receivables
gt 11 3 A
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
R E B Student loan receivables 81,299 76,194
AR EEERE Less: Provision for impairment - -
REXRZ LR Fi&IEZ  Balance as at end of the financial year,
RAEERK maximum exposure to credit risk 81,299 76,194
HER: Represented by:
—FREREZEEE Repayable within one year 30,088 11,311
—FREEZEE Repayable after one year 51,211 64,883
81,299 76,194
ERBLEERATEAHLRAETMEMBREERGESLLUBEE.

The fair values of student loan receivables approximate their carrying values for both financial years and are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

REER EAREBTRHEZERRBLEERZREDNUOT:

The ageing analysis for the student loan receivables that are past due but not impaired as at the balance sheet date

is as follows:
gt 111 = 3 N TET=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
BEA: Past due by:
BH—FR Within 1 year 1,902
B —FE"FRN More than 1 year and up to 2 years 3
B _FE=FRN More than 2 years and up to 3 years 8 -
BHA=FMU More than 3 years 1 6

AERRAESBVBREENFIRAFEAZEIER A EHREEHRE HEMAERKRELERRALH
TEHfE B EERE -

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all student loan receivables.

A ZE_MFENA=+—H BRBEERFTERE(CE_=ZF  BRBLEERFERE) -
At 31st August 2024, there were no student loan receivables impaired (2023: Nil).
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WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

11. FEURER4E B3k (48) Student loan receivables (continued)

WS ERREBRRENEHNT:

Movements on the provision for impairment of student loan receivables are as follows:

g 111 3 A
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
Balance as at beginning of the financial
RE 2 458% year - 13
HERBEERE GiEE Provision for impairment, included in
HMEBR X expenses under other activities - 81
FERMERMATIUREIZ  Written off during the year as
IR uncollectible - (94)
RERZ 48R Balance as at end of the financial year - -

EETREABRBLEERFEEAIBRRIERRFR-

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for the student loan receivables.

12. FEURERTR « Hth B AR « I RIE R S

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits

g a1 A
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
FEURBR =R Accounts receivable 3,440 2,868
HAth FEUZARTR Other receivables 40,108 59,147
B Deposits 31,321 42,898
FrEEZRAEERK  Maximum exposure to credit risk 74,869 104,913
FETRIE Prepayments 55,042 47,772
129,911 152,685

FEUBR R~ Eth IR AN MER R EN A FERHREAEEMEMREERNIIEE T EELUBEHE-
The fair values of accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits approximate their carrying
values for both financial years and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

AEERAEEMBRESENFEIFAFEAZBE LA A ERBEESE HHRKRRIKALARAEE
R BE o

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss allowance for accounts receivable.
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12. FEURERTR « HthEURARTR - RIS RRIE R % (18)

Accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits (continued)

FEBZHMBWIRRRREABEEERR ~EERREBYBREEN B ZRPEEHEERN HHMAE
H W SRR RRERA+_EAZEREEHEEE-

The Group’s other receivables and deposits are considered to have low credit risk. Under HKFRS 9’s expected
credit loss model, the Group measures expected credit losses which use a 12-month expected loss allowance for
all other receivables and deposits.

AZE_MENA=+—H THIRKERR R E MR IRRE B HAE I REE - ZZERUERF KRB ZBIABER
CERNBIBRERPE ZERBORRZRE DAUT:
At 31st August 2024, the following accounts receivable and other receivables were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers and students for whom there is no recent history of default.
The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

R NE -
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000

=y Past due by:

wmH VR —EBZE=/8 Less than 1 month and up to 3 months 247 2,449
BH=EAZENMEA More than 3 months and up to 6 months 4 1,477
BHRBIBNER More than 6 months 2,306 27
2,557 3,953

HAEE R AU AR~ HMEWAR R AN RIER RS T FESEREEE - ST BRIFEEMIERRERR -
The other classes within accounts receivable, other receivables, prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired
assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

1R P Y £ /138 BT Financial investments at amortised cost

gt a1 - S
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
RNEMEH Corporate bonds - 21,445
—FENEIEAZE Current portion - 21,445
JE—FAEFIHAZRE Non-current portion - -
- 21,445

AR CHENAST R REENANERRENKREEAST(CE=F T AE+EERETT)°
4% 88 85 A SRR (E RS 1R 5 BR o I B A SRR B I B HA SR (E -
At 31st August 2024, the carrying value of financial investments at amortised cost was Nil (2023: $21,445,000) and
stated at the amortised cost less impairment loss. The financial investments at amortised cost are not past due or
impaired.

BRAESRRMATEEHEECNREEHMEERTESMEE/ER
Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial instruments

g 111~ 3 N TET=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
JEEMRE BATFE Unlisted investments, at fair value
BfEstEE Unit trusts 1,479,870 965,891
EEW@mEE Fixed income funds 1,170,658 1,028,432
&5 Bonds - 34,475
R ERMEEZZR Deposits at financial institutions 6,782 13,590
LTHRE S RATE Listed equity securities, at fair value 576 494
FTAEZRAEERM  Maximum exposure to credit risk 2,657,886 2,042,882
THEER(BR)/BEE Derivative financial instruments
SMEIRHRE X Foreign exchange forward contracts (1,489) 1,741

BENATEEEREBETEEDSNEREMEE
The fair value of all securities is based on their current bid prices in an active market.

BREFERRMATEEZ NN EERBEEZATEEZEFH MERKBERATGHAGE2ENRERA
Changes in fair value of designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, interest and investment
income are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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14, BARERRBATFEESCNREEMNEERTEEHMEE/AR (B)
Designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial instruments (continued)
BREmRRRATEEZ ENREENEERNTESRNEEUTIERHE:!
The designated financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments are
denominated in the following currencies:
) o 11 3 =
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $000
=T United States dollars 2,409,363 1,631,219
BT Hong Kong dollars 186,647 335,508
HihEtg Other currencies 60,387 77,896
2,656,397 2,044,623
15. REMAEB=EAAZRITERRREMIAETFEY

Bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents

g S 111~ 3 TET=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
RITERAFERE Cash at banks and in hand 628,288 482,601
FEHARITER Short-term bank deposits 1,355,912 687,627
RERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,984,200 1,170,228

FIEARBIA=1ES>  Bank deposits with original maturities

RITER over three months 973,726 2,017,776
2,957,926 3,188,004
FrEEZRAEERK  Maximum exposure to credit risk 2,957,543 3,187,671

REPHBE=EAZRITEFRRRERREEEBYNREETEUBESE-
The carrying values of bank deposits with original maturities over three months and cash and cash equivalents are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

FEBFEHEARSAREHMA(VAS MR IN—RETHBHEZ R E_NFENA=+—H LENKEMH
BRREMEYREZHMBEEA—RE—B—+TtENTFEECtTAERT(ZZE=ZF ) °

The Group maintains a start-up fund of $100,000,000 established by the Alliance of Universities of Applied Sciences
(UAS). At 31st August 2024, the start-up fund of the UAS maintained by the Group not otherwise dealt with in the
consolidated financial statements amounted to $101,174,575 (2023: Nil).
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16. FAUW R EEUE Fee income receipt in advance

gl 1 = ———
NB=1+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
FAWE W E Fee income receipt in advance 1,021,353 793,646

TR AREFESHIDEFY AWK BN ERENRATE
The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised in the current reporting year relates to fee receipt
in advance at the beginning of the year.

RIZEZNE i
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
BETEFEREEE Revenue recognised that was included
W EERERIEREST in fee receipt in advance at the
U A E4E beginning of the financial year 793,646 615,794

TR FERPHREA—FHIU LN GNP RTEABNEFNEER:
The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected
duration of one year or more:

g 1 - 3 A
NB=+—8 NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $000
FEETRIR—ERER Expected to be recognised within one year 1,021,353 793,646

17. FE{FBRTR « FEE+ & B R Accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions

g o 111 N
NB=1+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
FEfTERTR Accounts payable 161,912 100,528
FEst& R Accrued expenses 169,957 136,965
TREE Financial liabilities 331,869 237,493
2] Provisions 38,701 33,767
370,570 271,260

FEMTERM Bt EAMEEN A TELELRAETMEMBREEANGRE X BLUBEEE-

The fair values of accounts payable, accrued expenses and provisions approximate their carrying values for both

financial years and are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. -
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18. IRIEYR S Deferred income

A— T — —
= __

NB—BZ#&ER

FREWR
PR EEN

BERLEER
B

EHEMESPER
ZEER

RIE—=
NB=+—H
ZAEER

A ———

=

NB—BZ#&&R

FREW R
FEWTRERN

EEIREEA
B

EHAMES P ER
ZEER
ATETUE
NB=+—H
ZAEER

N EFEEEERRINECHESCREEYER EENIAREEIREEESR) 2T (
MR IR EIRIRIEN TSTEAMI HEEFLZ—BNTAEB=F7t(

Balance as at
1st September 2022

Amounts received and
receivable during
the yearr

Transferred to deferred
capital fund*

Amounts utilised for
other activities

Balance as at
31st August 2023

Balance as at
1st September 2023

Amounts received and
receivable during
the year®

Transferred to
deferred capital fund*

Amounts utilised for
other activities

Balance as at
31st August 2024

SEfREH
RS W= R b
Government BB  Matched Hithigsh
loan, Grantand donations- Other 4agE
secured sponsorship Specific donations Total
$'000 $000 $'000 $°000 $'000
73,100 36,588 88,917 27,048 225,653
- 74,071 14,971 32,855 121,897
- (405) (3,535) (2,265) (6,205)
(10,305) (61,427) (21,150) (15,764) (108,646)
62,795 48,827 79,203 41,874 232,699
62,795 48,827 79,203 41,874 232,699
- 103,647 16,744 17,248 137,639
= (91) (2,863) (777) (8,731)
(10,547) (73,204) (18,214)  (14,624) (116,589)
52,248 79,179 74,870 43,721 250,018

—— =

—_—=<——

—— =

—_—<—

FIN\BE+EE—Tm)e

F EtAEETT)

This includes the donation received and receivable from The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust to finance the construction
of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of Healthcare, amounting to nil (2023: $794,000), and to fund the STEAM Centre with an open
resources environment of $1,853,000 (2023: $8,571,000).

# BUMEARBEEHREVFE KREAREHEEELEERES-

This represents the transfer to deferred capital fund for the purchase or construction of property, plant and equipment.
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% S £ Gratuities provision

gt a1 - =
NB=+—H NA=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
REV 2 48R Balance as at beginning of the financial year 50,779 48,802
BB Provision 68,685 51,150
AN Payments (30,245) (49,173)
RERZ 4EER Balance as at end of the financial year 89,219 50,779
HER: Represented by:
—FRENZERE Payable within one year 51,476 18,330
—F&ESZEEE  Payable after one year 37,743 32,449
89,219 50,779
RESHE2REESHNMITERME  ABEMNEREN A TERHEREEETMEMBRFEERNIES - IERH

F:.‘BﬁEﬁ?&ﬂﬁta@ﬂﬁiﬁéﬁ?ruﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁéfém’ EHAIRE WA -

Provision was made with reference to the terms stated in employees’ contracts. The fair value of gratuities provision
approximates to its carrying amount for both financial years. No discounting to non-current portion of gratuities
provision is made as the discounting effect is insignificant.
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20. HBFEIRIPE S 84K A58k Government loans, secured, at amortised cost

gt 1 3 S
NB=1+—H NA=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
BRBERERR Government loans, secured,
A EE Y AT AR at amortised cost 474,552 464,005
BRNERNEZEERNT:
The government’s loans are repayable as follows:
g ] 1 RIZE_=#F
NB=1+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
—FER Within one year 31,368 -
EE_ERN In the second year 69,533 30,612
EE=ZEFLFRN In the third to fifth years 170,830 162,817
FEHFEUE After the fifth year 202,821 270,576
474,552 464,005
BREREEAFIITHEBNUARRER AN G FTERE RS - EREREZERFIRER 58

SREEREREEES
B—RZWME > D +FFEE-

Bl MM E S (LUBEEHE)  MARE BB R OEAIER(HE7) - ZERAR &

The government loans are interest-free loans from the HKSAR Government to the Group for the development of
the Campus Phase Il, Jockey Club Campus project and the construction of the HKMU Jockey Club Institute of
Healthcare and are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. They are secured by Kwai Hing Learning Centre (Note 7),
and are repayable in equal annual installments over a period of ten years after the final draw-down of the loan.

R BN/ TERIEC/ZTHRN EEAFITHEBNERGESRESRENTE  AREK2EME
‘ﬁl\AEJr%'J"FEl%iET’E‘“%‘ﬁ%'XE’\JE?JE&Eﬁ BTIRBE—AMRRIEEREERSHTE -

In financial period 2019/20 and 2021/22, in view of the development of COVID-19 epidemic, the HKSAR Government
has granted a one-off interest-free deferral of loan repayment for a period of four years in total to alleviate the
financial pressure to repay the outstanding loans under the Start-up Loan Scheme.
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WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

FH & Leases

EEEANEFIZRENAE -GARBERES HEFHNENEZ  EFREESBAEGRRREH - 218
HENERERNARILEENEZE MABDRATHERMIFRFALEAATE - R2OFNA=+—H"
AR EEBREAENHEERRBEEREA—R-F/\E—+TBT(CE_=F  —E—F—8Lt+t87T)°

The Group has leased buildings mainly for office premises, warehouses and student hostels. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Extension and
termination options are included in a number of leases, the majority of which are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessors. At 31st August 2024, the future cash outflows for lease not yet commenced but
committed by the Group amounted to $128.1 million (2023: $111.9 million).

(a) EHEEEEBBRRETFIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
() fFERA#EE Right-of-use assets

TR
(Ff¥sE(1))
EBZY Land use rights 4azn
Buildings (Note (1)) Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
AT _—F Net book value at
NE—BWEREFE 1st September 2022 113,810 4,554 118,364
1N Additions 9,360 - 9,360
FRITE Depreciation for the year (23,802) (183) (23,985)
ERAE Exchange adjustment - (231) (231)
RIEZ=%F Net book value
NB=+—HmEREFEE at 31st August 2023 99,368 4,140 103,508
HER: Represented by:
D% Cost 155,581 5,029 160,610
REHTE Accumulated depreciation (56,213) (889) (57,102)
99,368 4,140 103,508
RIE—=%F Net book value at
NABE—BREREFE 1st September 2023 99,368 4,140 103,508
1 Additions 38,630 - 38,630
FAITE Depreciation for the year (29,191) (178) (29,369)
PE R A% Exchange adjustment - 90 90
A B [NE Net book value
NB=+—HMEREFE at 31st August 2024 108,807 4,052 112,859
HER: Represented by:
DN Cost 163,232 5,119 168,351
REHTE Accumulated depreciation (54,425) (1,067) (55,492)
108,807 4,052 112,859
M35 Note:
(1 RIZTZWOENA=+—H 1||%|37tT_LTJ"EF'lE’JiiﬁﬁﬁﬁFéE’J’&:F{EEj% FEO+ABRT(ZE_=F: “FhEa/N\1+=
BIt) ?é?qﬂ@,iﬁi?ﬁt-l-ﬁﬁm( TR ER)REYE T MERAENR S _ONENA=+—HN

NTEE- Et%?ﬁ%@%ﬁa—%ﬁé%ﬁ%%E’\JTEE’AEJ - KFITHERBREARAS  UWART S EEIFAREMETHAE-
The fair value of land use right in the PRC of MU-Shenzhen at 31st August 2024 was $30,490,000 (2023: $29,820,000),
representing the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers, on an open
market value basis. Out of $30,490,000 (2023: $29,820,000), $24,750,000 (2023: $24,200,000) is recognised as investment
properties as at 31st August 2024.

RNt PR EYEREYNFEREAR_ZEOENB=1+—HZRAFEFIINKHEE6-
Details and the fair value as at 31st August 2024 of the building portion of the investment properties erected on this piece of
land are disclosed in note 6.
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. #AE (#) Leases (continued)

AR

(@ £

EEBEBEREDHITIAE (&) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)

THhr|E
(i) FHEE1E Lease liabilities
HEEENSANRBAERNT:
Contractual maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:
= n‘Jiﬂﬁ
1-54F ME4REE
1A Between 55F{& Total BRE{E(E
Within 1and5 After 5 contractual Carrying
1 year years years cash flows amount
$000 $°000 $'000 $000 $'000
ST PUE
AB=+—H At31st August 2024 34,473 71,050 22,622 128,145 116,979
Less: Non-current
A IEREIERS  portion (85,163)
RENER D Current portion 31,816
A
AB=1+—H At 31st August 2023 25,294 62,744 23,814 111,852 105,980
Less: Non-current
B IERENERS  portion (82,499)
MENE D Current portion 23,481
(b) EixE2ENERMESIAIFIE Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

mEEEWERENZAEEMMRERNT:

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

#E—T-mE BE—_ZT_=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEEFE IEEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use
BRAEEEZINEER assets 29,369 23,985
g === Finance costs 2,362 2,067
PEREE Exchange adjustment
(BIEE—MRAZA) (included in General Expenses) 90 231
BHE_ZTWFENA=T+—HIFEEHEZRERHREA=TET(CE=F . ZF—8a/\+&8mx)°

Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31st August 2024 was $30.0 million (2023: $21.8 million).
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IEIEE A BEE Deferred capital fund

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

gl 1 =
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
Balance as at beginning of the
RER] 2 458% financial year 608,977 649,472
Tz 2EWERESE Released to consolidated statement of
V1 ON comprehensive income* (44,152) (46,700)
BEEARMS Payments for capital expenditure* 3,731 6,205
RERZ R Balance as at end of the financial year 568,556 608,977

* BRHASEERNITE-

The amount represents depreciation charge during the year.

# BUMALENRBERREYE HEARREBRBIELERDS

AN =ZBt+t=8—TR(CZ_=F  NEB-1t8ZTET)°

This represents the transfer from deferred income of $3,731,000 (2023: $6,205,000) for the purchase or construction of property,

plant and equipment.

IRIEIRIE & {8 Deferred tax liability

gl 1 A
NB=+—8 NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
Deferred tax liability
FERIBEE (To be recovered after more than
(BE+—EB%EXZN) 12 months) 10,083 9,961

RIERBRRRUEMBARRDIKZRE

BERFTEL - FREHNT:

The deferred tax liability arises from the undistributed retained earnings of a subsidiary and its movement during

the financial year is as follows:

g 111 3 B =
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $000

Balance as at beginning of the
REVZ 458 financial year 9,961 9,546
EiEa2mEWERINR  Charged to consolidated statement of

(M5E34) comprehensive income (Note 34) 122 415
RERZ 458K Balance as at end of the financial year 10,083 9,961

[ ]
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24. {ER R4S Employment expenditure

241 BEESRZERREMT:

Employment expenditure analysis by nature is as follows:

#E"TmF S ——
NA=1+—H NB=+—H
ILEFE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$’000 $’000
e TE R Salaries, wages and allowances 1,000,199 839,791
BRIRETEIRZEEMI  Employer’s contribution to retirement schemes 29,939 27,295
s SN Provision for gratuities 68,685 51,029
1,098,823 918,115

24.2 REARR#E &% Long Service Payment Provision
KFEEZRIARBSEEEESHNT:

The movements of long service payment provision during the year are as follows:

gt a1 - 3
NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024
$°000

REFE¥) 2 458k Balance as at beginning of the financial year 42
IBERFA A Past service cost 4
EHAARTFE AL A Current service cost -
R ER Net interest expense 2
ARG Actuarial gain (48)
RERZ 48R Balance as at end of the financial year -

rERZRIBRFEREDREBESESBEEMANMBETEBERABDUFESEMUEL EZFMAREN S MEN
B=+T—BHREM{EETE-

The Group's provision for long service payments is determined based on the actuarial valuation as at 31st August
2024 prepared by BMI Appraisals Limited, a qualified actuary, using the projected unit credit method.

R ZEZZHFRB  BBREBMNEST ( CE2 ZFE R KRBT BNR G (K28 (BT 1R 61) » ZETRH
“E_HRFRAB—H(NBEB)ERGBLER BZAE BB TMEI ARG ERMEBRNERINABER
RiEHBBEAREEENERENRERBEE RIZTNFENB=+—H  #RBFRFENRBRBEN
BARBHNEAEERENGE AR EEE S NEN\A=+—HIEEFELUBTRFEMARIR
In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region enacted the Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022. The amendment will
come into effect from 1st May 2025 (the "Transition Date"), under which the accrued benefits attributable to the
employers' mandatory contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund would no longer be eligible to offset
against the severance payment and long service payment accrued from the Transition Date. As at 31st August
2024, the retirement benefit obligation arising from long service payments for past services has been remeasured
accordingly and the impact is reflected as past service cost for the year ended 31st August 2024.
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24. BB (4) Employment expenditure (continued)

24.3 B A B Z M

Remuneration of higher paid staff

SMABZFHMORERATHER:

Their remuneration fell within the following bands:

#E_T_HE HEZZ—-=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
ILEE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
AH A
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
HK$1,800,001 — HK$1,950,000 3 4
HK$1,950,001 — HK$2,100,000 10 11
HK$2,100,001 — HK$2,250,000 5 5
HK$2,250,001 — HK$2,400,000 6 4
HK$2,400,001 — HK$2,550,000 2 1
HK$2,550,001 — HK$2,700,000 1 3
HK$2,700,001 — HK$2,850,000 3 1
HK$2,850,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 -
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,150,000 3 2
HK$3,150,001 — HK$3,300,000 1 2
HK$3,300,001 — HK$3,450,000 - 1
HK$3,450,001 — HK$3,600,000 - 1
HK$3,600,001 — HK$3,750,000 1 -
HK$3,750,001 — HK$3,900,000 1 -
HK$3,900,001 — HK$4,050,000 - 1
HK$4,200,001 — HK$4,350,000 1 -
HK$4,650,001 — HK$4,800,000 - 1
HK$4,950,001 — HK$5,100,000 1 -
HK$6,600,001 — HK$6,750,000 - 1
HK$7,050,001 — HK$7,200,000 1 -
40 38

HINEEHE  BERRAGFEMEHZHAR IREZEME -
Remuneration includes salaries, employer’s contributions to retirement schemes, cash allowances and gratuity
payments.

[ ]
175 & FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024 | 75



76

(RE B ImRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

25.

—f%BA X General expenses

IR
<
ERFF R B RS

TR
ereE
KEHEER
BRI 8 S A A
MAERX
KB ERE
EEHEE
FrEmkEEt

B RER
EEER

BEERERER
EREEEEANEER
HEEA

BRER
Htr&1ERx

Academic expenditure
Academic expenses

Temporary staff costs

Administrative expenditure
Building management
Operating lease expenses
Temporary staff costs

Office expenses

Utilities

Publicity

Stores and equipment

Student admission, graduation and

activities expenses
Library books and materials
Legal and professional fees
Project expenses
Recruitment expenses

Other operating expenses
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BEZT_NE BEZT_=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEERE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
20,929 13,618
7,418 4,577
28,347 18,195
69,297 67,837
1,120 1,242
4,102 3,965
52,834 37,413
29,924 30,354
16,501 16,425
3,060 3,203
65,229 57,519
26,039 25,979
13,776 6,973
20,375 23,616
3,670 2,190
19,161 8,717
325,088 285,433
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WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

26. AT RiEB & EBIBYEh;EE) Other activities funded by donations and grants

H#E—T-mE #Er—T—=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
ILEFE IEEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
WA Income
EREE Donation released from
-IREE A RS (M5E22) - Deferred capital fund (Note 22) 44,152 46,700
- IRE Wz (M9 5E18) - Deferred income (Note 18) 116,589 108,646
SRSRIBFR Donations and benefactions 8,522 1,527
B e Matching grant 7,302 5,877
HEMZE KRR E Gain on disposal of property,
& ER plant and equipment 246 27
176,811 162,777
52 Expenditure
TEER Depreciation charge (55,044) (56,362)
BHERIZEENIER Course development and projects (94,476) (93,963)
12BN B H NERE Scholarships and bursaries (28,518) (23,014)
Hitth Others (26,801) (19,895)
(204,839) (193,234)
BRI EEIR Results of other activities funded by
Hith/EBHRIR donations and grants (28,028) (30,457)
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27. Boit#Bh & RACEH B Matching grants and matched donations

AMBRHREGEYHREREZSLEENE URKBHERABHERREHNS  FBEFIITHREERNR -
E=FRNARURHEHDEAE A ETN\EF—A—AE REEXAMATEFITHREBFNE S HEE
stE) -

The HKSAR Government established Matching Grant Scheme in June 2003 to help enhance the fundraising
capacities of the UGC-funded institutions and develop a stronger philanthropic culture in the community towards
investment in education. Since 1st January 2008, the University has been included in the beneficiary list of the
HKSAR Government’s Matching Grant Scheme.

AERFEOH -FHA-EARBERFECHREMEB 8PN BN BE 2 REM R EBRI BT
Details of the University’s matched donations, matching grants awarded and the related expenditure of 4th, 5th, 6th
and 7th Matching Grant Scheme are as follows:

— Ao SEfRH
Ei=E Ei=E
Ao B E Matched Matched
Matching Donations donations
grants - General - Specific
$’000 $’000 $’000
A _E T Balance as at
NWE—BZ 48R 1st September 2022 118,524 3,481 52,280
Yz Income
FEREEW R Interest and investment income 4,577 69 2,108
4,577 69 2,108
53 Expenditure
BAMIEE Capital projects - - (1,963)
REBDRIRIE Scholarships and prizes (1,021) - (481)
Bh2EE Bursaries - - (251)
SR Academic development (776) - (1,951)
Hith Others - - (87)
(1,797) - (4,733)
RIZE—=4% Balance as at
NB=+—Az#&8 31st August 2023 121,304 3,550 49,655
N Balance as at
NWB—BZ 4R 1st September 2023 121,304 3,550 49,655
& Income
FERKE W Interest and investment income 6,075 402 3,209
6,075 402 3,209
(53 Expenditure
BAMIER Capital projects (18,518) - (1,146)
RBFRIRIE Scholarships and prizes (329) - (275)
BhEE Bursaries - - (120)
BT R Academic development (1) - (414)
Hith Others (28) - (564)
(18,876) - (2,519)
St Balance as at
NB=+—Bz#ek 31st August 2024 108,503 3,952 50,345
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28. FLBEptiRRAEBRHMBEERE BN
Matching grants and matched donations for Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for
Post-secondary Students

ANEHERBIGG ELELENMEREEH IR HYE RAEMBRAFLBILIKE - FALLHEE

by Fﬁﬁi_ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁbﬁﬁﬂﬁEﬁ?}%%’ﬂﬂ’\]i‘iﬂj‘ﬂ%&iﬂﬁ&ﬁ%iﬁﬁ°"F§'JEH.%E@$ES§1§E’HH$’X’Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ
TREMZKGE RHAX:

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds the grant, matching grants and related
donations of Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for Post-secondary Students, have to be separately disclosed. For
the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by matching grants and related donations are recognised in the
year of expenditure incurred. The eligible donations, the corresponding matching grants and the related income and
expenditure are detailed as follows:

Bo&idEBh = iDL =N
Matching Matched
grants donations
$°000 $'000
i = Balance as at
NB—BzZ 48R 1st September 2022 - 2,376
Wzm Income
FE R E W= Interest and investment income = 53
- 53
53 Expenditure
Hith Others = (15)
- (15
= Balance as at
NB=+—BZ%% 31st August 2023 - 2,414
RIEZ= Balance as at
hB— EIZ%EE% 1st September 2023 - 2,414
Yz Income
FEREE W Interest and investment income - 246
- 246
(53 Expenditure
B RIIA Scholarships and prizes - (50)
Hifth Others - (28)
= (78)
== Balance as at
NB=+—Bz#ek 31st August 2024 - 2,582
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29. FLEBEBINZFHAER T—F—B1 § L2EBINIFETE

Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students and Scheme for
Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students

ANEHERBREMG ELELEBIINTRFE R —F—K) ELBEBINIRSEYENAZAFRBIL
KRB ERLEMERR MEEREHENIHIIEEIHZELYEE -THRAEERMzRE RMAX:

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary
Students and Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received
and the payments have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies
is recognised in the year of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

—&F—ig FL2%

?;J:ﬁai}ﬁﬁ B AEE
ZinatEl Subsidy on
Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt

Exchange for
Post-secondary

and Road” Regions
for Post-secondary

Students Students
$°000 $°000
A TET T Balance as at
NB—Hz 4k 1st September 2022 4,264 -
Wk Income
kR Subsidy received 2,568 -
M EW = Interest income 87 B
2,655 -
552 Expenditure
S24EmE Subsidy to students (981) -
Refund of unspent funding to
IREIK AT Z BRER HKSAR Government (2,892) -
(3,873) ;
= —— Balance as at
NB=1+—HzZ#&&% 31st August 2023 3,046 -
AT = Balance as at
HWB—BzZ &k 1st September 2023 3,046 -
& Income
Zihe Subsidy received 1,197 -
B a= Interest income 98 -
1,295 -
Bz Expenditure
BLEhE Subsidy to students (766) -
Refund of unspent funding to
IREIATZ ERER HKSAR Government (1,848) -
(2,614) -
A _E_NE Balance as at
NB=1+—Hz &% 31st August 2024 1,727 -
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30. FRZEEC ¥ #Bh & 518 Research Matching Grant Scheme

ANERBHBENZEGHNE G MREHHB 8B HHE & RBRIBRRAE LIS LK EE  (E A LLH
SRR A ERAREMEREABEANTHIEEIHZFELYUEHE - TIRACESERNENR Hict
HEhERBERZWERHAXZ:

In compliance with the requirements of University Grants Committee which funds the grant, matching grants and
related donations of Research Matching Grant Scheme, have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this
note, all expenditure funded by matching grants and related donations are recognised in the year of expenditure
incurred. The eligible donations, the corresponding matching grants and the related income and expenditure are
detailed as follows:

Bo & [iTEREEEN
Matching Matched
grants donations
$°000 $'000
ATET T Balance as at
NB—HzZ & 1st September 2022 50,240 8,688
W Income
B/ R RENE/ Donations/Research Grants/
REL Research Contracts Received 5,877 12,415
M E RIS E W Interest and investment income 1,770 394
7,647 12,809
53 Expenditure
ESES] Research Projects (10,399) (6,756)
TIESEE Research Equipment (1,137) (1,612)
BERITES Research Activities for Students - (40)
Hith Others - (100)
(11,536) (8,508)
BT = Balance as at
NB=+—Bz#E&* 31st August 2023 46,351 12,989
- —— Balance as at
NB—HZ & 1st September 2023 46,351 12,989
Wz Income
B/ RSB E/ Donations/Research Grants/
RS Research Contracts Received 7,363 13,213
FMERKE WS Interest and investment income 1,999 388
9,362 13,601
Bz Expenditure
EH%IEE Research Projects (11,550) (14,677)
D] Research Equipment (581) (2,295)
e T ) Research Activities for Students - (40)
Refund of unspent funding to
IROIBFT/IEREZER%E  HKSAR Government/Donor (61) (311)
Hith Others - (100)
(12,192) (17,423)
A _EUE Balance as at
NB=1+—BHzZ#&# 31st August 2024 43,521 9,167
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—%— S EREBINTRAREETE
Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for
Post-secondary Students

31.

AUCHBRERGS —F—B FLEEBIINRACEEFIEDSMA AFLBILNE - (FAIULH

SRR FAERENENTHIEEHAFEEHFEHE T BRAEEERZRE RS

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Means-tested Subsidy on
Exchange to “Belt and Road” Regions for Post-secondary Students, the funding received and the payments have
to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure funded by the subsidies is recognised in the

year of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are detailed as follows:

A—— —

R —=

NB—BZ#ER
L&
IS

s
SLEYE
RO AT Z BRER

A—F— =

R—=—

NB=+—BzZ48

A— R

\_7__

NB—BZ#EER
W am

Lk

S

s
SBLEYE
RO AT BRER

it S
NB=+—BZ &

Balance as at 1st September 2022
Income
Subsidy received

Interest income

Expenditure
Subsidy to students
Refund of unspent funding to HKSAR Government

Balance as at 31st August 2023

Balance as at 1st September 2023
Income
Subsidy received

Interest income
Expenditure

Subsidy to students
Refund of unspent funding to HKSAR Government

Balance as at 31st August 2024
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$°000

1,733

1,693
46

1,739

(47)
(851)

(898)

2,574

2,574

811
75

886

(100)
(1,764)

(1,864)

1,596
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32. ELr2EMtEER —F—KI SIMLHREAREEHT
Non-means-tested Subsidies for Post-secondary Students to Participate in
Exchange Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road Regions

AREHERBRGRG ELEERMERK —F K1 BINARARBEH Y EMSNAZ AFHBE LK
BoERUMERR FMEERENENIHIIEERHZFEUAEFE T RESEAMzNERAX !

In compliance with the requirements of Education Bureau which funds Scheme for Non-means-tested Subsidy for
Post-secondary Students to Participate in Exchange Activities in the Mainland and Belt and Road Regions, the
funding received and the payments have to be separately disclosed. For the purpose of this note, all expenditure
funded by the subsidies is recognised in the year of expenditure incurred. The related income and expenditure are
detailed as follows:

r—&%—i&]
«E;J:‘*‘-‘E,ﬁﬂ‘xuu
B FBY Rt RABEESE
RABEEE Non-means-tested
Non-means-tested Subsidy on

Subsidy on Mainland
Experience Scheme
for Post-secondary

Exchange to “Belt
and Road” Regions
for Post-secondary

Students Students
$'000 $°000
S Balance as at
NWBE—BZ 48R 1st September 2022 402 956
W Income
BEihE Subsidy received 193 923
F 2R Interest income 7 26
200 949
553 Expenditure
BEEHE Subsidy to students (1) (25)
Refund of unspent funding to
IREIBATZ BRRE HKSAR Government (204) (466)
(225) (491)
B = Balance as at
NB=1+—HzZ &8k 31st August 2023 377 1,414
S Balance as at
NWBE—BZ 48R 1st September 2023 377 1,414
W Income
BihE Subsidy received 193 433
) E W= Interest income 13 41
206 474
(52 Expenditure
BLElE Subsidy to students - (47)
Refund of unspent funding to
IREI AT Z 8RER HKSAR Government (184) (982)
(184) (1,029)
ATE T NE Balance as at
NB=+—Bz 4R 31st August 2024 399 859
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33.

34.

BB RIS E IS Net interest and investment income

BE—_T-NE BE_E_=

NB=+—H NB=+—H

IEEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31st August 2024 31st August 2023

$°000 $'000

KREETEDRZFEUZE  Interest income from bank deposits 125,242 97,831
BIBER RN AFEE Fair value gains and investment income
MERMEEZATEEREF  onfinancial assets at fair value through

G E W FEE profit or loss, net 306,338 94,499

431,580 192,330

Fr8 M B Income tax expense

AR AZERBRBGOHFESSFERRBHR MEBWBLARNERNZERIREN(CE=F %) ALt
RERBEBWBABIIBAYIERNRFR

No Hong Kong profits tax is provided for the University and its Hong Kong subsidiaries as the University is exempted
from taxation pursuant to Section 88 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance and its Hong Kong subsidiaries are not
subject to the profits tax as it had no assessable profits for the financial year (2023: Nil).

RBEBRZBZ(BAEMENEERBRETERE) HKEm ASNEEALBR L+ IEHBYEMES
RESWA BRHFEHR SEA_BTNEN+T(ZE=F 1 Tx) -

According to the Tax Guide for Charitable Institutions and Trusts of a Public Character issued by the Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Department, the rental income derived by the University from property letting on the 12th floor of
Kwai Hing Learning Centre is subject to profits tax, amounting to $20,440 (2023: Nil).

FSRYNBREH 2 BAIRE ERBRERNGARRREBN > RRADEBAREM(FE) 2 RITNEAE - EELRE
EW @ R OPRBIPAS R T

Taxation on profits generated by MU-Shenzhen has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the
financial year at the rate of taxation prevailing in the PRC in which it operates. The amount of income tax expense
charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

#HE_T_NF BHE"ZT"=

NB= + B NB=+—H
ILEFE IEEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$’000 $'000

EHIRIE Current taxation
HENER Hong Kong profits tax 20 -
FRE (TSR PRC enterprise income tax (18) 3,152
2 3,152
IEFEFRIA (Mi5E23) Deferred taxation (Note 23) 122 415
124 3,567
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34. FR1GIR (48) Income tax expense (continued)

EERERRAARFZIRNE BEBZMEFHNERTEEANNT:

e M B ImRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

The taxation on the Group’s surplus before income tax differs from the theoretical amounts that would arise using
the taxation rate of Hong Kong as follows:

PRI AN B R

BEB216.5%
(CEBZ=:16.5%)M=K
STEBHIRER

HERBRBIFOIE8F
ERBHRRZ KEREG
Zﬁ??/ =

FANMRZ BEHE AR
ZEH

MEBARE L_iHJ(EF' B)EA PRC in which a subsidiary carries out

FRIRENF &

B ATIRDIKRERER Temporary difference on undistributed

ZERRE

PRISTRRI

Surplus before income tax

Notional tax calculated at the tax rate
of Hong Kong at 16.5%
(2023:16.5%)

Tax effect on surplus of the University
which is exempted from taxation
pursuant to Section 88 of the Inland
Revenue Ordinance

Expenses incurred in Hong Kong
subsidiaries not tax deductible

Effect of different taxation rate in the

business operations

retained earnings from a subsidiary

Income tax expense

B@E—T-mE BE_ZT_=

NB=+—H NB=1+—H
IEEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000

794,890 522,574
131,157 86,225
(133,002) (84,680)

1,606 446

241 1,161

122 415

124 3,567
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ke M I R R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

36.

{3 IE Commitments

RIBARBEFBIFRITHEBATERNGRIFER MRASK MRS > KEREFATEH LA SR BT ULE] o
Under the terms in the agreement with the HKSAR Government, the leasehold land on which the University’s
campus is erected may be repossessed should the University terminate as an educational institution.

A _E_EFNR  ARPREETARBAKREEBERBT SR IEEHNGAR(ZE) LRGN ENHBS
IEEBRA=ETT.

The University entered into agreement in April 2020 with the Zhaoging Municipal Government and Zhaoqing
University to jointly establish Hong Kong Metropolitan University (Zhaoqing). The University has committed to
contribute $300,000,000 for the project over the agreed period.

4270 5 FEYX #H £ FXIE Operating lease rental receivable

BE_ZNFNA=T—H EEEATHBENEEEE THRRERSWABENT:
As at 31st August 2024, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

o 11 3 RIZZ=%

NB=+—H NB=+—H

At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023

$°000 $°000

TEE—5F No later than one year 5,855 6,348
Later than one year and no later than

BiA—FEENBARE five years 500 4,980

6,355 11,328
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37.

371

IHEHEHFHE Cash flow information

¥ 75 T8 FR18 2 & Cash generated from operations

FRITAI AR Surplus before income tax
FHEE Adjustments for:
FEREEW Interest and investment income
HEFMS Interest on lease liabilities
FEWEE G2 R E Provision for impairment of student
B18%E loan receivables
REBMEFEZRE (Reversal of)/provision for impairment
B518 (18 0]/ £E of stock of course materials
Impairment loss of investment
KREYZERERE properties
HEYE 2 RE Gain on disposal of property,
& ER plant and equipment
TEER Depreciation charge
Depreciation charge of right-of-use
EREEEZITEER assets
Surplus before changes in working
EEETEHFI R capital
REBMEEFEZRL/ Decrease/(increase) in stock of
(381n) course materials
FEULBR 7~ HAhFEURBRER - Decrease in accounts receivable, other
TEGFIERIZRE Z R/  receivables, prepayments and deposits
Increase in fee income receipt in
TR BN E Z 181N advance
ZiEIBBWAKRERZ  Decrease in various donations income
FERZRLD receipts and utilisation, net
FEfTERFN-FEStE MR Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable,
B2 8/ 0RL) accrued expenses and provisions
¥(BEEFRZIAE Cash generated from operations

fn e M 5 IR R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

BE—_T-NE BE_E_=

NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEERE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$’000 $°000
794,890 522,574
(431,580) (192,330)
2,362 2,067

- 81

(24) 35

149,000 -
(246) (27)

154,570 140,590
29,369 23,985
698,341 496,975
240 (110)

7,498 10,981
227,707 177,851
(20,520) (27,537)
135,851 (5,383)
1,049,117 652,777
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ke M I R R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WU#ET4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

37. REFHEEEFF (48) Cash flow information (continued)

37.2 RERMEEFH 2 & EHIRR Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
fAE &1& Lease liabilities

#E"_T_NF BE_ZT"=

NB= + B NB=+—H

ILEFE IEEFE

Year ended Year ended

31st August 2024 31st August 2023

$’000 $’000

RENZ 458K Balance as at beginning of the financial year 105,980 116,327
e New leases 38,619 9,360
HEaENFEED Interest portion of lease liabilities 2,362 2,067
MERERE Financing cash flows (29,982) (21,774)
RERZ 4E5R Balance as at end of the financial year 116,979 105,980

38. RAH75325 Related party transactions

38.1 Hiff} B A FIMI3Z S Transactions with subsidiaries

RER > RBERNEK ~ PEEA ~ HAYBIEEERFA O BAMRBEKRER FEBEHEREBRKERMUSS
ETTUTERRS:

During the year, the following significant transactions with MU-Shenzhen, MU-China, HKMUPC, HKMU-RDC,
HKMUAA and MU88 were undertaken by the University:

#E—T—mF BE_T—_=

NB=+—H NB=+—H

ILEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31st August 2024 31st August 2023

$°000 $°000

FEURHS B ABFRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,790 11,974

LB AT RIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 68,870 52,316
Administrative service fee expenses to

THARFS &R a subsidiary 176 121

Academic service fee income from
BHERBEWA a subsidiary 186 6

eI RN BABIRIEAEEFAR  BIEH B IR ERFERLLUBEENNRIE - BB LARM
EARBBASEXNERN G

Amounts due to/from subsidiaries are related to business operations, unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand and denominated in Hong Kong dollars. There is no past due or default payment history to amounts due
from subsidiaries.

LB B AT ZTHIREA S A EEHENIRRET
The above transactions with subsidiaries were conducted based on the terms mutually agreed between the

relevant parties.
u
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fn e M 5 IR R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
38. BANE7A3Z5 (48) Related party transactions (continued)

38.2 F EEIR A B £ Key management personnel compensation
EENFEEEABRIEENE  IEEREHEENSEIH L ERENSENSEEEAS HNSOT:!

The key management of the Group refers to those senior management having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group and their compensations are analysed as follows:

#E_T_mE #Er—T—=
NB=+—H NB=+—H
IEEE IEFE
Year ended Year ended
31st August 2024 31st August 2023
$°000 $°000
e BoERL Salaries and allowances 55,519 53,426
Employer’s contribution to retirement
8 E HiRIRETEIRY R schemes 348 359
BB EEE Provision for gratuities 5,940 5,200
61,807 58,985

[ ]
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ke M I R R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

. KBEEARRREZEHREDR

Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University

39.1 XEE & &{§X Balance sheet of the University

ERBEE
REME

Y ERY 1B
BEEE
ERERE
MBARKRE
RS E G

HMEBEE
RIZBMER
FEUI B ABRIA

FEURAR ~ ELfthFELSARTR ~
RMEREE

RS EEMR

BiBIE IR KRR TE
BEEENREEMEE
TEERMEE

BRI ANERIRE
RSP
REIHIRBIE =@
ZIR1TER
RERREEEY

HERR
RSB E
FEAIHI B ABIRIA

FEAIBRTR FESHE A
g

TTEEReRE

EIEW a1

Hi SN B HEREED
BRBEIRRERRENZ D
HEaERHID

MENEEFE

.Eﬁé:ﬁﬁuugﬁlﬁtﬂ

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Student loan receivables

CURRENT ASSETS
Stock of course materials
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Accounts receivable, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Student loan receivables

Designated financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments
Financial investments at amortised cost
Prepaid income tax

Bank deposits with original maturities
over three months

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Fee income receipt in advance
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Accounts payable, accrued expenses
and provisions

Derivative financial instruments
Deferred income

Current portion of gratuities provision
Current portion of government loan, secured
Current portion of lease liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

90 | Ff#5ERE FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024

) - 11 3 i
NB=+—H NB=+—H
At 31st August 2024 At 31st August 2023
$°000 $'000
60,583 126,274
1,957,988 1,924,892
108,807 99,368
896,912 59,000
51,211 64,883
3,075,501 2,274,417
2,510 2,726
11,790 11,974
128,760 152,388
30,088 11,311
2,657,886 2,042,882
- 1,741
- 21,445
23 -
913,027 1,936,230
1,941,484 1,149,541
5,685,568 5,330,238
1,000,563 793,619
68,870 52,316
362,271 270,434
1,489 -
250,018 232,699
51,459 18,228
31,368 -
31,816 23,481
1,797,854 1,390,777
3,887,714 3,939,461
6,963,215 6,213,878




fn e M 5 IR R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

39. XEEERBRRESHRETR (1A)
Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University
(continued)

39.1 KXBEEAMER () Balance sheet of the University (continued)

> o 111 = 2 = ———
NB=+—H NB=+—H
Mfzx At 3ist August2024 At 31st August 2023
Note $°000 $°000
JERENEME NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
SN S5 Gratuities provision 37,661 32,403
BRI FRER Government loans, secured 443,184 464,005
HEaE Lease liabilities 85,164 82,499
EEEAEE Deferred capital fund 568,555 608,977
1,134,564 1,187,884
BEERE TOTAL NET ASSETS 5,828,651 5,025,994
HER REPRESENTED BY
EHEHEES FUNDS AND RESERVES 39.2 5,828,651 5,025,994

REENR-_ZE-_NFE+_FAHZELNEEERR
Approved by the Council on 5th December 2024

BREIFTE R B HEREE
Mr Arnold CHENG Ka-kui Professor Paul LAM Kwan-sing Mr Raymond CHIU Chi-wai

Bl & RE B 754aEs
Treasurer President Director of Finance
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ke M I R R MY 5L
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

39. XEEERBRRESHRETR (1)
Balance sheet and statement of changes in fund balances of the University
(continued)

39.2 KEBE HEERE R Statement of changes in fund balances of the University

HHEE — AR f

Specific General “aza

funds reserve Total

$°000 $°000 $°000

NI ZFNA—HZ&EER Balance as at 1st September 2022 301,050 4,211,731 4,512,781
FH(E1E)/ B (Deficit)/surplus for the year (7,518) 520,731 513,213
BE& 7 B Reallocation of funds 8,041 (8,041) -
AZE=F/\B=1+—BZ#8&F Balance as at 31st August 2023 301,573 4,724,421 5,025,994
RIZEZ=FNA—BZ4&ER Balance as at 1st September 2023 301,573 4,724,421 5,025,994
FREER Surplus for the year 1,512 801,145 802,657
B& 2 EMEic Reallocation of funds 1,734 (1,734) -
AT TNFEN\B=1+—HZ#eR Balance as at 31st August 2024 304,819 5,523,832 5,828,651

753 S FINANCIAL REPORT 2023-2024



B4 451 81 Student Statistics

() FREAH
- BRI
e gEiRE

(R 48 E2EBERTE)

- ER#HRE
-BEENK
MERIERIZ

(i) BEFMED4EE

(BB 48 LHRERE)

(i) E R 2ETITEMEBE D

(B KA L HERERIE)

B & Tuition Fee

() #2kR(B&ET)

- AXHER SR

- FIREHEEESMN
- B2k

- EIE R RS

- BB REXE
-FERAHEXEESR
- BHBER

(i) ¥%:ER4ER(BETT)
- BoiRie
- EFERTR
- miRERE
-BRENK
TMLER D :E2
- BB ERE

(i) FRBETIZ2E ()

- BoyeRte

- EIRERTE

- ERERTE
(=L
SRR A A E)

-EBREDK
MEZHRIE

(iv) B2 DF92E ()
- B IBERAE

(i) Average student headcount
- Credit Bearing Programmes

- Distance Learning Programmes
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)

- Face-to-face Programmes

- QF Credit Bearing and Non-Credit
Bearing Programmes

(i) Total student credits
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)

(iii) Average credit per student
(DL & e-Learning Programmes)

(i) By school ($ million)
- School of A&SS
- Lee Shau Kee School of B&A
- School of S&T
- School of N&HS
- School of E&L
- LiPACE
- Total Tuition Fee

(i) By category ($ million)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes
- Face-to-face Programmes

- QF Credit Bearing and Non-Credit
Bearing Programmes

- Total Tuition Fee

(iii) Average fee per student (3$)
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- Distance Learning Programmes
- Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time
Equivalent only)

- QF Credit Bearing and Non-Credit
Bearing Programmes

(iv) Average fee per credit ($)
- Distance Learning Programmes

WUHBT4EE  Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

FAEER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2023/24

Vs

2022/23

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 %
7,541 6,522 5,683 -12.9%
11,731 12,298 14,074 14.4%
29,372 30,500 36,662 20.2%
170,667 146,976 127,618 -13.2%
22.6 22.5 22.5 -0.3%
2023/24

Vs

2022/23

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 %
287.1 283.9 299.3 5.4%
417.4 418.7 574.7 37.3%
256.8 220.6 411.8 86.7%
363.9 422.3 469.7 11.2%
139.2 124.4 120.0 -3.5%
159.2 156.3 178.2 14.0%
1,623.6 1,626.2 2,053.7 26.3%
220.4 191.8 171.9 -10.4%
1,241.2 1,274.6 1,702.1 33.5%
162.0 159.8 179.7 12.5%
1,623.6 1,626.2 2,053.7 26.3%
29,227 29,408 30,251 2.9%
99,338 101,663 102,149 0.5%
5516 5,236 4,901 -6.4%
1,291 1,305 1,347 3.2%
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EEER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars
2. 2% (48) Tuition Fee (continued)

BRBEZ2E ()
Tuition Fee Per Student ($)

110,000

100,000

90,000

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

EERZ 29,227 29,408 30,251
Distance Learning Programmes

EiERE (U2 BRI LREBLERE) 99,338 101,663 102,149
Face-to-face Programmes
(Undergraduate Full-time Equivalent only)

BREZDRMEBHRRE 5,515 5,236 4,901
QF Credit Bearing and Non-Credit Bearing Programmes
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FisZ Expenditure

() B220R12
BEZEE
7 (7T)
- BERA
- fElfE A A
- A

(i) EftEEHRRE(BET)

(iii) IR A 8K
- BB
- EiZERE

(iv) BER A BRI EHE
2R
EEEARK

FMERSRE
EESE

¥ 58k B pk 4~ Staff Cost

() ZRBEEAH
(REHHEIEERE)

(ii) #BNAEZE(EETT)
BHEANE
- G
- BRIE(E

R NBRAEE
THAR
REHES

LS

eIz
T B AR EHE

(iv) 5 B F A E 48R
HE A=

EIRER

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(i) Operating cost for full-time
equivalent student for credit
bearing programmes ($)

- Direct Cost
- Indirect Cost
- Total Cost

(i) Result for Other Activities
($ million)

(iii) Average course population
- Distance Learning Programmes
- Face-to-face Programmes

(iv) % of operating costs to tuition fee
- Credit Bearing Programmes
- QF Credit Bearing and Non-
Credit Bearing Programmes
- Total

(i) No of full-time staff
(exclude project staff)

(i) Total Payroll ($ million)’
Academic Staff
- Tutor
- Course Co-ordinators

Dean & School staff
Admin Staff
Temporary Staff
Total

(iii) % of academic staff costs to
total staff costs

(iv) % of staff costs to
total expenditure

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

2023/24

Vs

2022/23

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 %
33,110 38,423 45228  17.7%
34610 43173 51,185  18.6%
67,720 81,596 96,413  18.2%
(11.9)  (30.5)  (28.0)  -8.0%
50.6 495 348  -29.7%
94.5 88.3 86.4  -2.2%
68.6%  77.7%  72.6%  -6.6%
79.2%  81.8%  83.3% 1.8%
69.7%  781%  735%  -5.9%
2023/24

Vs

2022/23

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 %
987.0 1,112.0 1,239.0  11.4%
42.8 42.0 416  -1.0%
333.9 3712 4616  24.4%
3767 4132 5032  21.8%
113.8 137.1 159.8  16.6%
270.1 2988 3331  11.5%
70.0 63.9 95.7  49.8%
8306  913.0 1,091.8  19.6%
454%  453%  46.1% 1.8%
62.8%  60.7%  62.0% 2.2%
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FAEAER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MUET4EE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

5. Hfth Others

EEFFESANERKRERZMZRF(BET)

Group's Net Result Before Interest and Investment Income for the Year ($ million)

550.0

498.5
500.0 .\
450.0
400.0 \
\ 365.7
350.0 /.

No—

300.0 332.3

250.0

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

ERzEEEERR(BET)
Group's Operating Result for the Year ($ million)

550.0 542.7

R e

. yd

~. 7
o

350.0

362.8

300.0

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
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FERER
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

WUAETEE Expressed in Hong Kong dollars

5. EHfth (45) Others (continued)

HHERITHASEED K

Expenditure Allocation Between Academic and Administration

100% e B W
80%
60%
40%

20%

0%

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
I {TH B Administrative Expenses 38.9% 39.9% 39.7%
I ¥ #5382 Academic Expenses 61.1% 60.1% 60.3%
BEELEZHXZ(T)
Expenditure Per Student ($)
B R1E
Credit Bearing Programmes

100,000

90,000

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

I R1#% AL S Indirect Cost 34,610 43,173 51,185
I B A Direct Cost 33,110 38,423 45,228

7% Note
1. FNR S EE e ER T MEMESMZ -
Total payroll includes both operating expenditure and expenditure in other activities.
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